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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.  Financial Statements
 

NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(Dollar amounts in millions)

 
Assets
Current Assets:
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $6.2 million and $4.9 million, respectively
Inventories:

Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods

 
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Tax refunds receivable
Prepaid income taxes

Total current assets

Property and Equipment, at Cost:
Land
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
 
Less accumulated depreciation

Total property and equipment, net

Other Assets:
Goodwill
Intangible assets, less accumulated amortization of $72.0 million and 
     $38.2 million, respectively
Deferred debt expense
Restricted investments and marketable securities
Other assets
 
Total Assets

October 1,
2011

 
 
$ 57.2

0.1
285.1

98.5
30.4

200.1
329.0
17.9
30.5
10.9
18.4

749.1

 
18.2
77.5

193.4
289.1
71.6

217.5

 
304.7

670.4
20.9
2.2

21.2
1,019.4

$ 1,986.0

December 31,
2010

 
 
$ 57.7

0.1
280.8

92.9
24.3

196.3
313.5
15.9
13.8
18.5
16.9

717.2

 
18.2
76.0

185.4
279.6
44.1

235.5

 
292.1

695.0
12.2
2.4

16.7
1,018.4

$ 1,971.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(Continued)
(Dollar amounts in millions, except shares data)

 
Liabilities and Stockholders' Investment

Current Liabilities:
Notes payable and other short-term obligations
Current maturities of long-term debt
Long-term debt (Note G)
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and taxes, net

Total current liabilities

Other Liabilities:
Deferred income taxes
Other
 

Notes, Mortgage Notes and Obligations Payable, Less Current Maturities

Commitments and Contingencies (Note H)

Stockholders' Investment:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000,000 authorized shares; none issued and 
     outstanding at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 90,000,000 authorized shares; 15,203,439 and 15,000,000 
     shares issued at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Less: Treasury stock at cost, 74,950 shares at October 1, 2011

Total stockholders' investment
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Investment

October 1,
2011

 
$ 2.1

33.7
0.2

170.6
230.3
436.9

 
125.6
175.0
300.6

1,146.9

 

—

0.1
176.7
(71.9)
(0.2)
(3.1)

101.6
$ 1,986.0

December 31,
2010

 

 
$ 8.6

7.7
1.5

175.7
193.2
386.7

 
152.7
171.1
323.8

1,101.8

 

—

0.1
174.7
(16.8)

0.8
—

158.8
$ 1,971.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

 
 
 
 

Net Sales

Costs and Expenses:
Cost of products sold
Selling, general and administrative expense, net
Amortization of intangible assets

 
Operating earnings
Interest expense
Investment income
(Loss) earnings before benefit from income taxes
Benefit from income taxes
Net (loss) earnings

Basic (loss) earnings per share

Diluted (loss) earnings per share

Weighted Average Common Shares:
Basic
Diluted

For the third quarter ended
October 1, 2011

(Dollar amounts in millions,
except shares and per share data)

$ 551.8

 
409.6
117.1
11.1

537.8
14.0

(24.6)
—

(10.6)
(8.5)

$ (2.1)

$ (0.14)

$ (0.14)

 
15,128,246
15,128,246

October 2, 2010

$ 496.6

 
361.4
100.1

8.4
469.9
26.7

(22.9)
0.1
3.9

(5.9)
$ 9.8

$ 0.65

$ 0.64

 
15,000,000
15,301,864

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

 
 
 
 

Net Sales

Costs and Expenses:
Cost of products sold
Selling, general and administrative expense, net
Amortization of intangible assets

 
Operating earnings
Interest expense
Loss from debt retirement
Investment income
Loss before benefit from income taxes
Benefit from income taxes
Net loss

Basic loss per share

Diluted loss per share

Weighted Average Common Shares:
Basic
Diluted

For the first nine months ended
October 1, 2011

(Dollar amounts in millions,
except shares and per share data)

$ 1,605.3

 
1,183.3

351.4
33.9

1,568.6
36.7

(81.0)
(33.8)

0.1
(78.0)
(22.9)

$ (55.1)

$ (3.64)

$ (3.64)

 
15,121,093
15,121,093

October 2, 2010

$ 1,436.5

 
1,051.5

298.0
29.0

1,378.5
58.0

(69.9)
—
0.1

(11.8)
(8.5)

$ (3.3)

$ (0.22)

$ (0.22)

 
15,000,000
15,000,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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 NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

 
 
 
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Loss from debt retirement
Non-cash interest expense, net
Non-cash share-based compensation expense
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Deferred federal income tax benefit
Changes in certain assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and taxes
Long-term assets, liabilities and other, net

Total adjustments to net loss
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Net cash paid for businesses acquired (Note B)
Investment in joint venture (Note B)
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment
Change in restricted cash and marketable securities
Other, net

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Increase in borrowings
Payment of borrowings
Sale of the 8.5% Senior Notes due 2021
Net proceeds from borrowings under the Term Loan Facility
Redemption of the 11% Senior Secured Notes due 2013
Fees paid in connection with new debt facilities
Payment of minimum withholding taxes in connection with vesting of restricted stock
Other, net
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net change in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid
Income taxes (refunded) paid, net

For the first nine months ended
October 1, 2011

(Dollar amounts in millions)
 
$ (55.1)

 
71.8
33.8
4.1
0.4

(0.1)
(27.2)

 
(3.6)

(21.1)
(20.6)
(6.3)
53.1
4.6

88.9
33.8

 
(13.9)
(30.9)
(5.3)
0.6
0.2
0.2

(49.1)
 

80.6
(99.3)
500.0
348.2

(753.3)
(58.7)
(2.7)

—
14.8
(0.5)
57.7

$ 57.2
 

$ 58.2
$ (5.5)

October 2, 2010

 
$ (3.3)

 
72.7

—
1.4
1.9

(0.2)
(27.3)

 
(16.8)
(30.9)

0.4
35.3
38.3
3.0

77.8
74.5

 
(12.6)
(9.2)

—
0.5
1.2
—

(20.1)
 

47.9
(138.0)

—
—
—
—
—

(0.7)
(90.8)
(36.4)
89.6

$ 53.2
 

$ 44.3
$ 11.6

 
The impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on cash was not material and has been included in Other, net.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OCTOBER 1, 2011 AND OCTOBER 2, 2010 

(A) Basis of Presentation 

Nortek, Inc. (“Nortek”) and all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, collectively the “Company”, is a diversified manufacturer 
of innovative, branded residential and commercial building products, operating within four reporting segments (see Note 
E, “Segment Information”). Through these segments, the Company manufactures and sells, primarily in the United States, 
Canada and Europe, a wide variety of products for the remodeling and replacement markets, the residential and commercial 
new construction markets, the manufactured housing market and the personal and enterprise computer markets.

The Company operates on a calendar year and for its interim periods operates on a 4-4-5 fiscal calendar, where each 
fiscal quarter is comprised of two 4-week periods and one 5-week period, with each week ending on a Saturday. The 
Company's fiscal year always begins on January 1 and ends on December 31.  As a result, the Company's first and fourth 
quarters may have more or less days included than a traditional 4-4-5 fiscal calendar, which consists of 91 days. The third 
quarters ended October 1, 2011 (“third quarter of 2011”) and October 2, 2010 (“third quarter of 2010”) each include 91 
days.  The first nine months ended October 1, 2011 ("first nine months of 2011") and October 2, 2010 ("first nine months 
of 2010") include 274 days and 275 days, respectively.

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect the financial position, results of 
operations and cash flows of the Company after elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions, without audit 
and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments of a normal recurring nature necessary for a fair statement of 
the interim periods presented. Although certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual financial 
statements prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") have been omitted, 
the Company believes that the disclosures included are adequate to make the information presented herein not misleading. 
Operating results for the third quarter and first nine months ended October 1, 2011 are not necessarily indicative of the 
results that may be expected for other interim periods or for the year ending December 31, 2011. Certain amounts in the 
prior year's unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period 
presentation, including reclassifications to other current assets, other assets, accrued expenses and taxes, net and other 
liabilities related to expected insurance reimbursements.  

These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated 
financial statements and the related notes included in the Company's latest annual report on Form 10-K and its latest 
Current Reports on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update ("ASU") 
No. 2011-08, Testing Goodwill for Impairment (“ASU 2011-08”), which changes the way a company completes its annual 
impairment review process. The provisions of this pronouncement provide an entity with the option to first assess 
qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more 
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. ASU 2011-08 allows an entity the 
option to bypass the qualitative-assessment for any reporting unit in any period and proceed directly to performing the 
first step of the two-step goodwill impairment test. The pronouncement does not change the current guidance for testing 
other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment. This standard is effective for annual and interim goodwill 
impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. Early adoption is permitted. The Company 
does not expect the adoption of ASU 2011-08 to have a material effect on its financial position or results of operations. 

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, Presentation of Comprehensive Income (“ASU 2011-05”), which will 
require companies to present the components of net income and other comprehensive income either in a single continuous 
statement or in two separate but consecutive statements.  It eliminates the option to present components of other 
comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in stockholders' equity.  The pronouncement does not change 
the current option for presenting components of other comprehensive income, gross or net of the effect of income taxes, 
provided that such tax effects are presented in the statement in which other comprehensive income is presented or disclosed 
in the notes to the financial statements.  The pronouncement does not affect the calculation or reporting of earnings per 
share.  The pronouncement also does not change the items which must be reported in other comprehensive income, how 
such items are measured, or when they must be reclassified to net income.  This standard is effective for reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2011.  Early adoption is permitted. The Company will adopt this pronouncement in the 



NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OCTOBER 1, 2011 AND OCTOBER 2, 2010
(Continued)

8

first quarter of 2012 and it will have no effect on its financial position or results of operations, but will impact the way 
the Company presents comprehensive income.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-04, Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and 
Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs (“ASU 2011-04”), which is intended to result in convergence between 
U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards requirements for measurement of, and disclosures about, 
fair value.  ASU 2011-04 clarifies or changes certain fair value measurement principles and enhances the disclosure 
requirements particularly for Level 3 fair value measurements.  This pronouncement is effective for reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2011, with early adoption prohibited for public companies.  The new guidance will require 
prospective application.  The Company will adopt this pronouncement in the first quarter of 2012 and does not expect 
its adoption to have a material effect on its financial position or results of operations. 

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-29, Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for Business 
Combinations ("ASU 2010-29"), which amended guidance to clarify the acquisition date that should be used for reporting 
pro-forma financial information for business combinations.  If comparative financial statements are presented, the pro-
forma revenue and earnings of the combined entity for the comparable prior reporting period should be reported as though 
the acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the current year had been completed as of the 
beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period.  The amendments in this guidance became effective 
prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after January 1, 2011.  There was no 
impact on the Company's consolidated financial results as the amendments relate only to additional disclosures.

 
In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-28, When to Perform Step 2 of the Goodwill Impairment Test for 
Reporting Units with Zero or Negative Carrying Amounts ("ASU 2010-28"), which amended the guidance on goodwill 
impairment testing.  The amendments modify Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test for reporting units with zero or 
negative carrying amounts.  For those reporting units, an entity is required to perform Step 2 of the goodwill impairment 
test if it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists.  In making that determination, an entity should consider 
whether there are any adverse qualitative factors indicating that impairment may exist.  The amendments were effective 
January 1, 2011 and did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

 
In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements ("ASU 
2010-06"), which establishes additional disclosure requirements for fair value measurements which the Company included 
in its interim and annual financial statements in 2010. Certain disclosure requirements relating to fair value measurements 
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) were deferred until January 1, 2011. These new requirements did not 
have an impact on the Company's consolidated financial results or disclosure in the unaudited condensed consolidated 
financial statements (see Note I, "Fair Value”). 

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-14, Certain Revenue Arrangements that Include Software Elements 
("ASU 2009-14"), which amends the scope of existing software revenue recognition accounting. Tangible products 
containing software components and non-software components that function together to deliver the product's essential 
functionality would be scoped out of the accounting guidance on software and accounted for based on other appropriate 
revenue recognition guidance. This guidance must be adopted in the same period that a company adopts ASU 2009-13 
described in the following paragraph. Therefore, the Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2011.  The adoption 
of ASU 2009-14 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-13, Multiple- Deliverable Revenue Arrangements ("ASU 2009-13"), 
which amends revenue recognition guidance for arrangements with multiple deliverables. The new guidance eliminates 
the residual method of revenue recognition and allows the use of management's best estimate of selling price for individual 
elements of an arrangement when vendor-specific objective evidence or third-party evidence is unavailable. The Company 
adopted this guidance on January 1, 2011.  The adoption of ASU 2009-13 did not have a material impact on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements.
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(B) Acquisitions and Other Investments

On April 28, 2011, the Company, through wholly-owned subsidiaries, acquired all of the stock of TV One Broadcast 
Sales Corporation, Barcom (UK) Holdings Limited and Barcom Asia Holdings, LLC (collectively, "TV One") for 
approximately $26.0 million.  In connection with the acquisition of TV One, in the second quarter of 2011, the Company 
also incurred approximately $0.8 million of fees and expenses, which have been recorded in selling, general and 
administrative expense, net in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations.  TV One 
sells a complete range of video signal processing products for the professional audio/video and broadcast markets.  TV 
One is included in the Company's Technology Products segment.  The Company has made preliminary estimates of the 
fair value of assets and liabilities of TV One, utilizing information available at the time that the Company's unaudited 
condensed consolidated financial statements were prepared and these estimates are subject to refinement until all pertinent 
information has been obtained.  The Company is in the process of finalizing the purchase accounting and final estimates 
of fair value of assets and liabilities, which is expected to be completed during the fourth quarter of 2011.  Any changes 
to the estimates for these amounts or other final purchase accounting adjustments will be reflected as an adjustment to 
goodwill in the fourth quarter of 2011 when the purchase price calculation is finalized.

On March 21, 2011, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Huntair Middle East Holdings, Inc. ("Huntair"), 
acquired a forty-nine percent minority interest in Huntair Arabia, for approximately $5.3 million.  Huntair Arabia is an 
operating joint venture between the Company and Alessa Advanced Projects Company ("Alessa") in Saudi Arabia that 
was formed for purposes of trading, manufacturing, supplying, installing, and servicing commercial air conditioning and 
commercial air handling units in Saudi Arabia and certain other regions.  The Company does not have a controlling 
financial interest and, therefore, is accounting for this investment under the equity method of accounting within the 
Commercial HVAC segment.  In connection with its investment in Huntair Arabia, Huntair issued a 10 year note to Alessa 
for approximately $5.3 million.  The note does not bear interest and as such, the Company has recorded the note, net of 
discount of approximately $0.8 million, on its accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet at October 
1, 2011.

On December 17, 2010, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Ergotron, Inc. (“Ergotron").  Ergotron is 
a designer, manufacturer and marketer of innovative, ergonomic mounting and mobility products for computer monitors, 
notebooks and flat panel displays in the United States and other parts of the world.  The estimated purchase price was 
approximately $299.3 million, consisting of cash payments totaling approximately $295.6 million, of which approximately 
$5.8 million was paid in the first nine months of 2011, and an estimated payable to the sellers of approximately $3.7 
million related to the remaining estimated reimbursement of federal and state tax refunds due to Ergotron for the pre-
acquisition period in 2010.  The final amounts due for the reimbursement of federal and state tax refunds will be determined 
when the final pre-acquisition tax returns are filed and the refunds are collected, which is expected to occur in the fourth 
quarter of 2011.  Any changes to the estimates for these amounts or other final purchase accounting adjustments will be 
reflected as an adjustment to goodwill in the fourth quarter of 2011 when the purchase price calculation is finalized.

Goodwill associated with the acquisition of Ergotron was recorded in the Technology Products segment, and the Company 
does not believe that any of the goodwill will be deductible for tax purposes.  Due to revisions to the preliminary estimate 
of fair value, which primarily related to intangible assets, net of deferred tax consequences, the preliminary goodwill 
allocation related to Ergotron increased by approximately $0.5 million from $130.0 million as of December 31, 2010 to 
approximately $130.5 million as of October 1, 2011.

On July 6, 2010, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Linear LLC acquired all of the issued and outstanding 
membership interests of Skycam, LLC (“Luxor”) for approximately $9.1 million (utilizing approximately $7.9 million 
of cash and issuing an unsecured 4% subordinated note in the amount of $1.2 million due January 2012).  Luxor is an 
online retailer and distributor of security cameras and digital video recorders and is included in the Technology Products 
segment.  

The acquisitions of TV One, Ergotron and Luxor contributed approximately $58.8 million to net sales and approximately 
$7.4 million (which includes depreciation and amortization of approximately $4.3 million) to operating earnings for the 
third quarter of 2011 and contributed approximately $169.3 million to net sales and approximately $12.1 million (which 
includes depreciation and amortization of approximately $20.8 million, including approximately $7.5 million relating to 
the amortization of fair value allocated to inventory) to operating earnings for the first nine months of 2011.
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Contingent consideration of approximately $1.3 million was paid in the first quarter of 2010 related to the acquisition of 
certain entities.  The Company does not anticipate paying any further contingent consideration for completed acquisitions 
as of October 1, 2011.

The following table presents a summary of the activity in goodwill by reporting segment for the first nine months of 
2011:

 

 

Residential Ventilation Products (“RVP”):
Gross goodwill
Impairment losses
Net RVP goodwill

Technology Products (“TECH”):
Gross goodwill
Impairment losses
Net TECH goodwill

Consolidated goodwill (2):
Gross goodwill
Impairment losses
Net consolidated goodwill

December 31, 
2010

(Amounts in millions)

 
$ 154.8

—
154.8

 
137.3

—
137.3

292.1
—

$ 292.1

Purchase
Accounting (1)

 
$ —

—
—

 
12.6

—
12.6

12.6
—

$ 12.6

October 1, 
2011

 
$ 154.8

—
154.8

 
149.9

—
149.9

304.7
—

$ 304.7

(1) Purchase accounting adjustments for TECH goodwill during the first nine months of 2011 relate to the acquisitions 
of Ergotron and TV One. 

(2) There was no goodwill allocated to the R-HVAC or C-HVAC reporting segments at either October 1, 2011 or 
December 31, 2010.
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(C) Stockholders' Investment

Activity within stockholders' investment, including comprehensive loss, for the third quarter of 2011 is as follows:

 
 

Balance, July 2, 2011

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss:

Currency translation adjustment
Pension liability adjustment

Comprehensive loss
3,000 shares of common stock issued 
     upon exercise of stock options
2,483 shares of treasury stock 
     acquired

Share-based compensation expense

Balance, October 1, 2011

Common
Stock

(Amounts in millions)
$ 0.1

—

 

—
—

 

—

—

—

$ 0.1

Addi-
tional 

Paid-In 
Capital

$ 176.5

—

 

—
—

 

0.1

—

0.1

$ 176.7

Accumu-
lated 

Deficit

$ (69.8)

(2.1)

 

—
—

 

—

—

—

$ (71.9)

Accumu-
lated 
Other 

Compre-
hensive 
Income 
(Loss)

$ 4.0

—

 

(3.7)
(0.5)

 

—

—

—

$ (0.2)

Treasury 
Stock

$ (3.1)

—

 

—
—

 

—

—

—

$ (3.1)

Compre-
hensive 

Loss

$ —

(2.1)

(3.7)
(0.5)

$ (6.3)

 

Activity within stockholders' investment, including comprehensive (loss) income, for the third quarter of 2010 is as 
follows:

 
 

Balance, July 3, 2010

Net earnings

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Currency translation adjustment
Pension liability adjustment

Comprehensive income

Share-based compensation expense

Balance, October 2, 2010

Common
Stock

(Amounts in millions)
$ 0.1

—

 

—
—

 

—

$ 0.1

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

$ 173.1

—

 

—
—

 

0.7

$ 173.8

Accumulated
Deficit

$ (16.5)

9.8

 

—
—

 

—

$ (6.7)

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

$ (0.4)

—

 

3.2
(0.2)

 

—

$ 2.6

Compre-
hensive
Income
(Loss)

$ —

9.8

3.2
(0.2)

$ 12.8
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Activity within stockholders' investment, including comprehensive loss, for the first nine months of 2011 is as follows:

 
 

Balance, December 31, 2010

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss:

Currency translation adjustment
Pension liability adjustment, net of 
     tax of approximately $0.3 million

Comprehensive loss
175,261 shares of common stock issued 
     upon vesting of restricted stock
28,178 shares of common stock issued 
     upon exercise of stock options
74,950 shares of treasury stock 
     acquired
Modification to executive stock option 
     arrangements

Share-based compensation expense

Balance, October 1, 2011

Common
Stock

(Amounts in millions)
$ 0.1

—

 

—

—

 

—

—

—

—

—

$ 0.1

Addi-
tional 

Paid-In 
Capital

$ 174.7

—

 

—

—

 

—

0.5

—

1.1

0.4

$ 176.7

Accumu-
lated 

Deficit

$ (16.8)

(55.1)

 

—

—

 

—

—

—

—

—

$ (71.9)

Accumu-
lated 
Other 

Compre-
hensive 
Income
(Loss)

$ 0.8

—

 

(0.9)

(0.1)

 

—

—

—

—

—

$ (0.2)

Treasury 
Stock

$ —

—

 

—

—

 

—

—

(3.1)

—

—

$ (3.1)

Compre-
hensive 

Loss

$ —

(55.1)

(0.9)

(0.1)

$ (56.1)

 
 

Activity within stockholders' investment, including comprehensive (loss) income, for the first nine months of 2010 is 
as follows:

 
 

Balance, December 31, 2009

Net loss

Other comprehensive income:

Currency translation adjustment

Comprehensive loss

Share-based compensation expense

Balance, October 2, 2010

Common
Stock

(Amounts in millions)
$ 0.1

—

 

—

 

—

$ 0.1

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

$ 171.9

—

 

—

 

1.9

$ 173.8

Accumulated
Deficit

$ (3.4)

(3.3)

 

—

 

—

$ (6.7)

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

$ 1.5

—

 

1.1

 

—

$ 2.6

Compre-
hensive
(Loss)

Income

$ —

(3.3)

1.1

$ (2.2)
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(D) (Loss) Earnings per Share

The Company calculates basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share (“EPS”) in accordance with ASC 260, “Earnings per 
Share” (“ASC 260”).  Basic (loss) earnings per share amounts are computed using the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted (loss) earnings per share amounts are computed using the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding and dilutive potential common shares outstanding during each period.

The reconciliations between basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 
and 2010 are as follows:

 
 
 

Net (loss) earnings

Weighted average common shares
outstanding

Dilutive effect of stock options
Dilutive shares outstanding

Basic (loss) earnings per share

Diluted (loss) earnings per share

For the third quarter of
2011

(Dollar amounts in millions, except shares and per share data)

$ (2.1)

15,128,246
—

15,128,246

$ (0.14)

$ (0.14)

2010

$ 9.8

15,000,000
301,864

15,301,864

$ 0.65

$ 0.64

For the first nine months of
2011

$ (55.1)

15,121,093
—

15,121,093

$ (3.64)

$ (3.64)

2010

$ (3.3)

15,000,000
—

15,000,000

$ (0.22)

$ (0.22)

 

The effect of certain potential common share equivalents, including warrants, unvested restricted stock, and stock options 
were excluded from the computation of diluted shares outstanding for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 and 
2010, as inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.  A summary of these common share equivalents excluded from the 
third quarter and first nine months of 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

 
 
Warrants
Restricted stock
Stock options

Total

For the third quarter of
2011

789,474
316,852
515,616

1,621,942

2010
789,474
706,481
20,000

1,515,955

For the first nine months of
2011

789,474
316,852
515,616

1,621,942

2010
789,474
706,481
786,481

2,282,436
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(E) Segment Information

The Company is a diversified manufacturer of innovative, branded residential and commercial building products, operating 
within four reporting segments:
 

• the Residential Ventilation Products (“RVP”) segment,
• the Technology Products (“TECH”) segment,
• the Residential Air Conditioning and Heating Products (“R-HVAC”) segment and
• the Commercial Air Conditioning and Heating Products (“C-HVAC”) segment.

 

Through these segments, the Company manufactures and sells, primarily in the United States, Canada and Europe, a 
wide variety of products for the remodeling and replacement markets, the residential and commercial new construction 
markets, the manufactured housing market and the personal and enterprise computer markets.

The Company's performance is significantly impacted by the levels of residential replacement and remodeling activity, 
as well as the levels of residential and non-residential new construction. New residential and non-residential construction 
activity and, to a lesser extent, residential remodeling and replacement activity are affected by seasonality and cyclical 
factors such as interest rates, credit availability, inflation, consumer spending, employment levels and other 
macroeconomic factors, over which the Company has no control.
 
The RVP segment primarily manufactures and sells room and whole house ventilation and other products primarily for 
the professional remodeling and replacement markets, the residential new construction market and the do-it-yourself 
("DIY") market. The principal products sold by this segment include kitchen range hoods, exhaust fans (such as bath 
fans and fan, heater and light combination units) and indoor air quality products.
 
The TECH segment, formerly known as the Home Technology Products ("HTP") segment, manufactures and distributes 
a broad array of products designed to provide convenience and security for residential and certain commercial applications. 
The principal product categories sold in this segment include audio/video distribution and control equipment, security 
and access control products, and digital display mounting and mobility products.
 

The R-HVAC segment manufactures and sells heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems for site-built residential 
and manufactured housing structures and certain commercial markets. The principal products sold by the segment are 
split-system and packaged air conditioners and heat pumps, air handlers, furnaces and related equipment.
 

The C-HVAC segment manufactures and sells heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems for custom-designed 
commercial applications to meet customer specifications. The principal products sold by the segment are large custom 
rooftop cooling and heating products.
 

The Company evaluates segment performance based on operating earnings before allocations of corporate overhead 
costs. Intersegment net sales and intersegment eliminations are not material for any of the periods presented. The financial 
statement impact of all purchase accounting adjustments, including intangible assets amortization and goodwill, are 
reflected in the applicable operating segment, which are the Company’s reporting units. 
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Unaudited net sales, operating earnings and (loss) earnings before benefit from income taxes for the Company’s reporting 
segments for the third quarter of 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

 
 
 
Net sales:
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products

Consolidated net sales

Operating earnings (loss):
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products

Subtotal
Executive retirement (Note L)
Unallocated, net

Consolidated operating earnings
Interest expense
Investment income

(Loss) earnings before benefit from income taxes

For the third quarter of
2011
(Dollar amounts in millions)

 
$ 146.5

196.1
98.0

111.2
$ 551.8

 
$ 4.1

13.6
—
4.9

22.6
(0.2)
(8.4)
14.0

(24.6)
—

$ (10.6)

2010

 
$ 146.0

139.7
119.0
91.9

$ 496.6

 
$ 13.4

13.9
4.4
0.7

32.4
—

(5.7)
26.7

(22.9)
0.1

$ 3.9
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Unaudited net sales, operating earnings and loss before benefit from income taxes for the Company’s reporting segments 
for the first nine months of 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

 
 
 
Net sales:
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products

Consolidated net sales

Operating earnings (loss):
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products

Subtotal
Executive retirement (Note L)
Unallocated, net

Consolidated operating earnings
Interest expense
Loss from debt retirement
Investment income

Loss before benefit from income taxes

For the first nine months of
2011
(Dollar amounts in millions)

 
$ 447.9

534.0
306.7
316.7

$ 1,605.3

 
$ 22.9

34.3
4.7
5.1

67.0
(8.7)

(21.6)
36.7

(81.0)
(33.8)

0.1
$ (78.0)

2010

 
$ 453.1

349.4
361.3
272.7

$ 1,436.5

 
$ 43.2

10.4
18.6
5.3

77.5
—

(19.5)
58.0

(69.9)
—
0.1

$ (11.8)
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(F) Income Taxes

The Company provided for income taxes on an interim basis based upon the estimated annual effective tax rate for 2011 
and 2010.  The following reconciles the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective tax rate of approximately 29.4% 
and 72.0% for the first nine months of 2011 and 2010, respectively:

 
 
Income tax at the federal statutory rate
Net change from federal statutory rate:

Tax benefit from capitalized research and development costs
Increase in valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets
(Increase) decrease in uncertain tax positions, including interest
State income tax benefit, net of federal income tax effect
Tax effect resulting from foreign activities
Non-deductible expenses
Other, net

Income tax at effective rate

For the first nine months of
2011

35.0%
 

—
(8.6)
(0.5)
4.8

(0.4)
(0.8)
(0.1)
29.4%

2010
35.0%

 
95.8

(53.3)
9.9

(2.2)
(10.8)
(1.2)
(1.2)
72.0%

The increase in valuation allowance relates to losses of certain foreign subsidiaries and losses in certain domestic 
jurisdictions.  The Company has determined that based on the history of losses at these subsidiaries, a valuation allowance 
is required for these loss carry-forwards since it is more likely than not that these loss carry-forwards will not be realized.

As of January 1, 2011, the Company had a liability of approximately $21.2 million for unrecognized tax benefits related 
to various federal, foreign and state income tax matters.  As a result of additional provisions to the reserve during the 
first nine months of 2011, the liability for uncertain tax positions at October 1, 2011 was approximately $23.3 million.  
The liability for uncertain tax positions is included in other long-term liabilities on the accompanying unaudited condensed 
consolidated balance sheet.  The corresponding amount of gross uncertain tax benefits was approximately $24.3 million 
and $21.9 million at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

The amount of uncertain tax positions that will impact the Company's effective tax rate is approximately $13.0 million.  
The difference between the total amount of uncertain tax positions and the amount that will impact the effective tax rate 
represents the federal tax effect of state tax items and items that offset temporary differences.  

As of October 1, 2011, the Company had approximately $1.7 million in unrecognized benefits relating to various state 
tax issues, for which the statute of limitations is expected to expire in the fourth quarter of 2011. 

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had accrued liabilities of approximately $3.0 million for interest related to 
uncertain tax positions.  As of October 1, 2011, the total amount of accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions was 
approximately $4.0 million.  The Company accounts for interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as part 
of its provision for federal and state taxes.  
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(G) Notes, Mortgage Notes and Obligations Payable

On April 26, 2011, the Company successfully completed the private placement of $500.0 million in aggregate principal 
amount of 8.5% Senior Notes due 2021 (the “8.5% Notes”). The Company also entered into a new senior secured term 
loan with a final maturity in 2017 and optional interest rates at the election of the Company, including LIBOR, as defined 
in the agreement, plus 4.0% with a LIBOR floor of 1.25% (the “Term Loan Facility”). The Company borrowed $350.0 
million aggregate principal under the Term Loan Facility at a 5.25% interest rate on April 26, 2011, which resulted in net 
proceeds to the Company of approximately $348.2 million, after deducting an original issue discount of approximately 
$1.8 million. The Company received approximately $827.3 million of net proceeds in connection with the issuance of 
the 8.5% Notes and Term Loan Facility, after deducting approximately $20.9 million of underwriting commissions and 
legal, accounting and other expenses incurred.  As discussed further below, the Company used approximately $825.0 
million of these net proceeds to repurchase or redeem all of the Company's 11% Senior Secured Notes, which included 
approximately $753.3 million of aggregate outstanding principal balance, approximately $37.8 million of tender and 
redemption premiums and approximately $33.9 million of accrued but unpaid interest as of the redemption dates. Net 
cash from these debt transactions of approximately $2.3 million was retained by the Company for general corporate 
purposes.

The following is a summary of sources and uses in the second quarter of 2011 related to these debt transactions:

Sources:

Total sources
Uses:

Subtotal - 11% Notes repurchase or redemption

Total uses

Net cash to Nortek

 

Proceeds from issuance of the 8.5% Notes
Proceeds from Term Loan Facility after deducting original issue discount of 
     approximately $1.8 million

Repurchase or redemption of 11% Notes
Tender and redemption premiums for 11% Notes
Accrued and unpaid interest through the date of tender or redemption

Underwriting commissions and legal, accounting and other expenses

(Amounts in millions)

$ 500.0

348.2
848.2

(753.3)
(37.8)
(33.9)

(825.0)
(20.9)

(845.9)

$ 2.3

During the second quarter of 2011, the Company used approximately $731.1 million of the net proceeds to repurchase 
approximately 88.5% or approximately $666.6 million aggregate principal amount of the 11% Notes through a tender 
offer in accordance with the terms of the Company's purchase and consent solicitation statement dated April 12, 2011 
(the “Tender Offer”), which was completed on April 26, 2011. The Tender Offer entitled the holders of the 11% Notes 
to receive $1,052.50 per $1,000 in principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, and resulted in a supplemental 
indenture to the 11% Notes, which substantially eliminated all affirmative and restrictive covenants and certain events 
of default under the indenture and provided for a shorter notice period in connection with a voluntary redemption. The 
Company used approximately $93.9 million to discharge its remaining obligations under the 11% Note indenture 
(approximately $86.7 million aggregated principal amount) through a deposit in trust funds sufficient to pay and discharge 
all remaining indebtedness, including accrued and unpaid interest, on the 11% Notes in conjunction with the notices of 
redemption sent to the remaining holders of the 11% Notes. Under the terms of the supplemental indenture to the 11% 
Notes, the Company was permitted to redeem $75.0 million aggregate principal amount at 103%, plus accrued and unpaid 
interest, and the remaining $11.7 million aggregate principal amount at 105%, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

As certain holders of the new 8.5% Notes and Term Loan Facility had previously held the 11% Notes up to the time of 
their repurchase or redemption, in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 470-50, "Debt Modifications and 
Extinguishments" (“ASC 470-50”), the Company determined that, of the total approximately $60.5 million of original 
issue discounts, underwriting commissions, legal, accounting and other expenses and tender and redemption premiums, 
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approximately $33.8 million should be recorded as a loss on debt retirement and that approximately $11.2 million and 
$15.5 million should be recorded as deferred debt expense and debt discount, respectively, and amortized over the lives 
of the respective debt instruments. The approximately $11.2 million of deferred debt expense was allocated approximately 
$6.3 million to the 8.5% Notes and approximately $4.9 million to the Term Loan Facility. The approximately $15.5 
million of debt discount was allocated approximately $7.2 million to the 8.5% Notes and approximately $8.3 million to 
the Term Loan Facility.

8.5% Senior Notes due 2021
 
The 8.5% Notes are unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by each of the Company's current and future 
domestic restricted subsidiaries that guarantee any of the Company's other indebtedness.  Interest on the 8.5% Notes 
accrues at the rate of 8.5% per annum and is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15, commencing 
on October 15, 2011, until maturity. Interest on the 8.5% Notes accrues from the date of original issuance or, if interest 
has already been paid, from the date it was most recently paid. Interest is computed on the basis of a 360-day year 
comprised of twelve 30-day months.
 
At any time prior to April 15, 2014, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the 8.5% 
Notes with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings (as defined) at a redemption price of 108.5% plus accrued 
and unpaid interest, provided that at least 65% of the original aggregate principal amount of the 8.5% Notes remains 
outstanding after the redemption and the redemption occurs within 90 days of the date of the closing of such equity 
offerings (as defined). On or after April 15, 2016, the 8.5% Notes are redeemable at the option of the Company, in whole 
or in part, at any time and from time to time, on or after April 15, 2016 at 104.25%, declining to 102.125% on April 15, 
2017, declining to 101.063% on April 15, 2018 and further declining to 100.0% on April 15, 2019.
 
In addition, at any time and from time to time prior to April 15, 2016, the Company may redeem all or any portion of the 
8.5% Notes outstanding at a redemption price equal to (a) 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the 8.5% Notes to 
be redeemed together with accrued and unpaid interest to such redemption date, plus (b) the “Make Whole Amount”. 
The “Make Whole Amount” means, with respect to the 8.5% Notes at any redemption date, the greater of (i) 1.0% of the 
principal amount of the 8.5% Notes and (ii) the excess, if any, of (a) an amount equal to the present value of (1) the 
redemption price of the 8.5% Notes at April 15, 2016 plus (2) the remaining scheduled interest payments of the 8.5% Notes 
to be redeemed to April 15, 2016, computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate plus 0.5%, over (b) the 
principal amount of the 8.5% Notes to be redeemed.

Pursuant to the registration rights agreement with the initial purchasers of the 8.5% Notes, the Company has agreed it 
will use reasonable best efforts to file and cause to become effective a registration statement with respect to an offer to 
exchange the 8.5% Notes for a new series of registered notes with substantially similar terms or file and cause to become 
effective a shelf registration statement with respect to the 8.5% Notes on or before the 390th day after the issuance date 
of the 8.5% Notes.  If the Company is not in compliance with this obligation, special interest will accrue at a rate of 
0.25% per annum during the 90-day period immediately following the occurrence of the registration default and will 
increase by 0.25% per annum at the end of each subsequent 90-day period, but in no event will the special interest rate 
exceed 1.00% per annum.

The indenture governing the 8.5% Notes contains certain restrictive financial and operating covenants including covenants 
that restrict, among other things, the payment of cash dividends, the incurrence of additional indebtedness, the making 
of certain investments, mergers, consolidations and the sale of assets (all as defined in the indenture and other agreements). 

Term Loan Facility

The Term Loan Facility is repayable in quarterly installments of $875,000 with a balloon payment for the remaining 
balance due on April 26, 2017.

The Term Loan Facility provides that, after April 26, 2011, the Company may request additional tranches of term loans 
in an aggregate amount not to exceed $200.0 million.  Availability of such additional tranches of term loans will be subject 
to the absence of any default, a pro forma secured leverage ratio test and, among other things, the receipt of commitments 
by existing or additional financial institutions.



NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OCTOBER 1, 2011 AND OCTOBER 2, 2010
(Continued)

20

Loans under the Term Loan Facility bear interest, at the Company's option, at a rate per annum equal to either (1) base 
rate (as defined in the credit agreement governing the Term Loan Facility) or (2) LIBOR (as defined in the credit agreement 
governing the Term Loan Facility), in each case plus an applicable margin.  The weighted average interest rate under the 
Term Loan Facility at October 1, 2011 was 5.25%.

The credit agreement governing the Company's Term Loan Facility requires the Company to prepay outstanding term 
loans, subject to certain exceptions, with:

• 50% (subject to reduction to 25% and 0% based upon the Company's secured leverage ratio) of the Company's 
annual excess cash flow, commencing with the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012;

• 100% of the net cash proceeds of certain asset sales and casualty and condemnation events, subject to 
reinvestment rights and certain other exceptions; and

• 100% of the net cash proceeds of any issuance of debt, other than debt permitted under the Term Loan 
Facility.

Certain voluntary prepayments on or prior to the first anniversary of the closing of the Term Loan Facility are subject 
to a call premium of 1%.  Otherwise, the Company may voluntarily prepay outstanding loans at any time without 
premium or penalty other than customary “breakage” costs with respect to LIBOR loans.

The Term Loan Facility agreement contains certain restrictive financial and operating covenants, including covenants 
that restrict the Company's ability and the ability of its subsidiaries to complete acquisitions, pay dividends, incur 
indebtedness, make investments, sell assets and take certain other corporate actions.

Other Indebtedness

The indenture governing the 10% Senior Notes due 2018 (the "10% Notes") contains certain restrictive financial and 
operating covenants including covenants that restrict, among other things, the payment of cash dividends, the incurrence 
of additional indebtedness, the making of certain investments, mergers, consolidations and the sale of assets (all as defined 
in the indenture and other agreements).  As of October 1, 2011, the Company had the capacity to make certain payments, 
including dividends, under the 10% Notes of approximately $25.0 million.

On October 21, 2011, the Company notified the Trustee for the 10% Notes of the existence of a default, as defined in the 
related indenture, resulting from the Company's failure to timely provide a current report on Form 8-K including certain 
financial statements required by Item 9.01 of Form 8-K related to the Company's acquisition of Ergotron.  The Company 
has subsequently filed an amendment to the Form 8-K relating to the Ergotron acquisition, which includes such financial 
statements, on November 10, 2011.  Accordingly, there was no Event of Default, as defined in the indenture, and the 
Company is in compliance with the terms, covenants and conditions set forth in the indenture relating to the 10% Notes. 

At October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company's subsidiary, Best, was not in compliance with certain 
maintenance covenants with respect to one of its loan agreements with borrowings outstanding of approximately $0.8 
million and $1.4 million at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.  As a result, the Company reclassified 
the long-term portion of outstanding borrowings under this agreement of approximately $0.6 million as a current liability 
on its consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2010.  The lender has not taken any action related to the covenant 
noncompliance at this time.  The next measurement date for the maintenance covenant is for the year ended December 
31, 2011 and the Company believes it is probable that Best will not be in compliance with such covenants at such time.  No 
assurances can be given that the lender will continue to not take any action and accordingly, the Company could be 
required to repay this outstanding borrowing if non-compliance is not cured or waived, as the case may be.  In the event 
this lender accelerates this loan, additional indebtedness of Best under a different loan agreement with borrowings 
outstanding of approximately $1.1 million and $1.7 million at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, 
could also become immediately due and payable if such cross-default is not waived.  As a result, the Company has also 
reclassified the long-term portion of this additional indebtedness of approximately $0.2 million and $0.9 million as a 
current liability on its consolidated balance sheet at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

On October 28, 2011, we voluntarily repaid $25.0 million of outstanding borrowings under our ABL Facility and 
accordingly have classified such amount as current maturities of long-term debt in the accompanying unaudited condensed 
consolidated balance sheet.
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(H) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company provides accruals for all direct costs, including legal costs, associated with the estimated resolution of 
contingencies at the earliest date at which it is deemed probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of such 
liability can be reasonably estimated. Costs accrued are estimated based upon an analysis of potential results, assuming 
a combination of litigation and settlement strategies and outcomes. Legal costs for other than probable contingencies are 
expensed when services are performed.  

The Company has indemnified third parties for certain matters in a number of transactions involving dispositions of 
former subsidiaries.  The Company has recorded liabilities in relation to these indemnifications of approximately $5.5 
million at October 1, 2011, of which approximately $2.3 million are recorded in accrued expenses and approximately 
$3.2 million are recorded in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance 
sheet.  At October 1, 2011, the undiscounted future payments related to these indemnifications are estimated to be 
approximately $6.1 million.  At December 31, 2010, the Company had recorded liabilities in relation to these 
indemnifications of approximately $5.7 million, of which approximately $2.2 million was recorded in accrued expenses 
and approximately $3.5 million was recorded in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying condensed consolidated 
balance sheet.  

 

The Company sells a number of products and offers a number of warranties including, in some instances, extended 
warranties for which the Company receives proceeds.  The specific terms and conditions of these warranties vary 
depending on the product sold and the country in which the product is sold.  The Company estimates the costs that may 
be incurred under its warranties, with the exception of extended warranties, and records a liability for such costs at the 
time of sale.  Deferred revenue from extended warranties is recorded at estimated fair value and is amortized over the 
life of the warranty and periodically reviewed to ensure that the amount recorded is equal to or greater than estimated 
future costs.  Factors that affect the Company’s warranty liability include the number of units sold, historical and 
anticipated rates of warranty claims, cost per claim and new product introduction.  The Company periodically assesses 
the adequacy of its recorded warranty claims and adjusts the amounts as necessary.  As a result of this assessment, the 
Company increased its warranty liability by approximately $5.3 million in the third quarter of 2011, reducing net income 
by approximately $2.8 million, or approximately $0.18 per share, for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011.  

 

Changes in the Company’s combined short-term and long-term warranty liabilities during the third quarter of 2011 and 
2010 are as follows:

 

Balance, beginning of period
Warranties provided during period
Settlements made during period
Changes in liability estimate, including 
     expirations and acquisitions
Balance, end of period

For the third quarter of
2011
(Amounts in millions)

$ 55.5
6.7

(7.4)

4.9
$ 59.7

2010

$ 57.0
9.0

(9.7)

(3.1)
$ 53.2

 

Changes in the Company’s combined short-term and long-term warranty liabilities during the first nine months of 2011 
and 2010 are as follows:

 

Balance, beginning of period
Warranties provided during period
Settlements made during period
Changes in liability estimate, including 
     expirations and acquisitions
Balance, end of period

For the first nine months of
2011
(Amounts in millions)

$ 55.9
20.0

(19.7)

3.5
$ 59.7

2010

$ 54.3
21.8

(20.3)

(2.6)
$ 53.2
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In the fourth quarter of 2009, two of the Company's subsidiaries in the TECH segment began shipping security products 
to a new customer under an agreement to manufacture and sell these security products.  Under this agreement, the Company 
recognized net sales of approximately $35.7 million and $62.5 million during the third quarter and first nine months of 
2011, respectively.  The Company recognized net sales of approximately $34.2 million and $45.8 million relating to this 
customer during the third quarter and first nine months of 2010, respectively. The agreement includes payment terms 
which are extended beyond the subsidiaries' normal payment terms.  The Company has determined that cash basis 
accounting treatment is appropriate for revenue recognition under this agreement. Accordingly, the Company has deferred 
revenue recognition on approximately $36.5 million and $9.2 million of net sales at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 
2010, respectively, and recorded the cost basis of related inventory shipped of approximately $23.0 million and $6.5 
million at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, in other current assets in the accompanying unaudited 
condensed consolidated balance sheet.  In addition, included in inventory is approximately $6.7 million and $6.1 million 
at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, of inventory related to this customer. As only limited cash 
collection history was available in periods prior to December 31, 2009, the Company recorded loss contingency reserves 
of approximately $2.0 million as a reduction to other current assets during the first nine months of 2010. 
 
The customer has made approximately $26.3 million of payments to date in the fourth quarter of 2011, including 
approximately $13.3 million of delinquent payments that were scheduled to be received in the third quarter of 2011. In 
the fourth quarter, the customer notified the Company of a product recall issue related to certain products that the Company 
provided to the customer who in turn sold such products to third parties. The Company is in the process of negotiating 
a resolution of this and other contractual terms in the customer agreement. These negotiations have not been completed 
and, accordingly, the Company has recorded a warranty reserve of approximately $6.0 million, representing the Company's 
best estimate of the amount that may be ultimately due for the product recall as of October 1, 2011. The Company made 
an approximate $2.9 million progress payment to the customer for the product recall in the fourth quarter of 2011.  The 
customer has continued to make payments and is current on its account. As such, the Company currently believes that it 
will collect all remaining amounts recorded in the consolidated balance sheet as of October 1, 2011, net of the remaining 
warranty reserve, in accordance with the terms of the current agreement with the customer.  

As the Company records revenue on the cash basis of accounting for this customer, the failure of the Company to receive 
scheduled payments resulted in a corresponding reduction to revenue and cost of goods sold in the Company's third 
quarter 2011 operating results than was otherwise expected. If the customer remains current with its payments, then sales 
and cost of goods sold will be higher than was otherwise expected in the fourth quarter of 2011. 

There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to complete its negotiations with the customer or that the 
customer will continue to pay according to terms in the fourth quarter of 2011 if the negotiations are not completed. As 
such, it is possible that the Company may have reduced sales and cost of sales and may be required to record additional 
reserves in the fourth quarter of 2011 related to this customer relationship. The Company will continue to closely monitor 
the situation in the fourth quarter of 2011.  

The Company is subject to other contingencies, including legal proceedings and claims, arising out of its businesses that 
cover a wide range of matters including, among others, environmental matters, contract and employment claims, product 
liability, warranty and modification and adjustment or replacement of component parts of units sold, which include 
product recalls. Product liability, environmental and other legal proceedings also include matters with respect to businesses 
previously owned. The Company has used various substances in its products and manufacturing operations which have 
been or may be deemed to be hazardous or dangerous, and the extent of its potential liability, if any, under environmental, 
product liability and workers' compensation statutes, rules, regulations and case law is unclear. Further, due to the lack 
of adequate information and the potential impact of present regulations and any future regulations, there are certain 
circumstances in which no range of potential exposure may be reasonably estimated.

The Company has undertaken several voluntary product recalls and reworks over the past several years.  Additional 
product recalls and reworks could result in material costs. Many of the Company's products, especially certain models 
of bath fans, range hoods, and residential furnaces and air conditioners, have a large installed base, and any recalls and 
reworks related to products with a large installed base could be particularly costly. The costs of product recalls and reworks 
are not generally covered by insurance.  Any recalls or reworks may adversely affect the Company's reputation as a 
manufacturer of high-quality, safe products and could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows.
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While it is impossible to ascertain the ultimate legal and financial liability with respect to contingent liabilities, including 
lawsuits, warranty, product liability, environmental liabilities and product recalls, the Company believes that the aggregate 
amount of such liabilities, if any, in excess of amounts provided or covered by insurance, will not have a material adverse 
effect on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity. It is possible, however, that 
results of operations for any particular future period could be materially affected by changes in the Company's assumptions 
or strategies related to these contingencies or changes that are not within the Company's control.

(I) Fair Value

The Company’s assets and liabilities recorded at fair value have been categorized based upon a fair value hierarchy in 
accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. The levels of the fair value hierarchy are described 
below:

• Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that the 
Company has the ability to access at the measurement date.

• Level 2 inputs utilize inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in 
active markets, and inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, such as interest 
rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals.

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, allowing for situations where there is little, if 
any, market activity for the asset or liability.

Measured on a Recurring Basis

Restricted Investments and Marketable Securities (Level 1) -- The fair value of investments is based on quoted market 
prices.  The fair value of investments was not materially different from their cost basis at October 1, 2011 or December 31, 
2010.

Financial Instruments Not Recorded at Fair Value

The carrying value and fair values of financial instruments not recorded at fair value in the condensed consolidated 
balance sheets as of October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010 were as follows:

Cash and Trade Receivables -- Cash and trade receivables are carried at their cost which approximates fair value because 
of their short-term nature.

Long-Term Debt -- At October 1, 2011, the fair value of the Company's long-term indebtedness was approximately $108.8 
million lower than the amount on the Company's accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet, before 
unamortized discount of approximately $17.0 million.  At December 31, 2010, the fair value of the Company’s long-
term indebtedness was approximately $57.1 million higher than the amount on the Company's accompanying unaudited 
condensed consolidated balance sheet, before unamortized discount of approximately $2.0 million.  The Company 
determined the fair market value of its 10% Notes and 8.5% Notes using available market quotes.  For the Company's 
remaining outstanding indebtedness (including outstanding borrowings under the ABL Facility and Term Loan Facility), 
the Company assumed that the carrying value of such indebtedness approximated the fair value based upon the variable 
interest rates associated with certain of these debt obligations and the Company's estimated credit risk.
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(J) Pension, Profit Sharing & Other Post-Retirement Benefits

The Company and its subsidiaries have various pension plans, supplemental retirement plans for certain officers, profit 
sharing and other post-retirement benefit plans requiring contributions to qualified trusts and union administered funds.

Pension and profit sharing expense charged to operations aggregated approximately $1.1 million and $1.3 million for the 
third quarter of 2011 and 2010, respectively, and aggregated approximately $3.8 million and $3.2 million for the first 
nine months of 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The Company's policy is to generally fund currently at least the minimum required annual contribution of its various 
qualified defined benefit plans.  At October 1, 2011, the Company estimated that approximately $7.4 million would be 
contributed to the Company's defined benefit pension plans in 2011, of which approximately $5.8 million was contributed 
through the first nine months of 2011. 

The Company’s unaudited net periodic (income) benefit cost for its defined benefit plans for the third quarter of 2011 
and 2010 consists of the following components:

 
 
 
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets

Net periodic (income) benefit cost

For the third quarter of
2011
(Dollar amounts in millions)

$ 0.1
2.1

(2.3)
$ (0.1)

2010

$ 0.1
2.2

(2.1)
$ 0.2

The Company’s unaudited net periodic (income) benefit cost for its defined benefit plans for the first nine months of 
2011 and 2010 consists of the following components:

 
 
 
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets

Net periodic (income) benefit cost

For the first nine months of
2011
(Dollar amounts in millions)

$ 0.3
6.4

(7.0)
$ (0.3)

2010

$ 0.3
6.6

(6.3)
$ 0.6

The Company's unaudited net periodic benefit cost, consisting solely of interest costs, for its post-retirement health benefit 
plan for the first nine months of 2010 was approximately $0.2 million.  There were no periodic benefit costs for the 
Company's post-retirement health benefit plan for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 or the third quarter of 
2010.  
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(K) Exit and Disposal Activities

The Company has initiated various exit and disposal activities including, but not limited to, the following matters.

During 2010, the Company announced the formation of its new audio/visual control company within the TECH segment 
called The AVC Group, LLC ("The AVC Group").  Upon the formation of The AVC Group, the operations of Niles Audio 
Corporation, Elan Home Systems, L.L.C. and Xantech LLC were combined to improve the overall operational efficiencies 
of these companies.  In conjunction with the formation of The AVC Group, the Company is in the process of consolidating 
and shutting down certain of its facilities and, as a result, recorded net expenses within selling, general and administrative 
expense, net ("SG&A") of approximately $0.4 million for the first nine months of 2011 consisting of severance and other 
expenses.   During 2010, the Company recorded approximately $2.8 million (of which approximately $2.6 million was 
recorded within SG&A) of severance and other expenses related to this activity, of which approximately $0.4 million 
was recorded in SG&A in the third quarter of 2010.  The Company does not anticipate recording any additional expenses 
related to severance or other costs associated with this activity.

In addition, the Company is in the process of restructuring its Aigis Mechtronics, Inc. ("Aigis") and Lite Touch, Inc. 
("Lite Touch") facilities within the TECH segment.  As a result, during the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, 
the Company recorded expenses of approximately $0.2 million (of which approximately $0.1 million was recorded within 
SG&A) and $0.8 million (of which approximately $0.6 million was recorded within SG&A), respectively, related to 
severance and other costs.  The Company anticipates recording additional expenses associated with the restructuring of 
Aigis and Lite Touch of approximately $0.3 million through the fourth quarter of 2011.  

In February 2011, management approved an initial plan to reduce costs and improve production efficiencies at the 
Company's subsidiary, Best, and during the third quarter of 2011, our Board of Directors approved additional plans that 
are expected to further improve the overall operational efficiencies of Best.  During the third quarter and first nine months 
of 2011, the Company recorded expenses within SG&A of the RVP segment of approximately $0.1 million and $0.6 
million, respectively, related to severance and other costs.  The Company also recorded additional severance costs of 
approximately $0.4 million and $1.7 million within cost of products sold ("COGS") during the third quarter and first nine 
months of 2011, respectively.  In the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company transferred certain operations from Italy to 
Poland in accordance with the plan and has commenced union negotiations with respect to the employees to be terminated. 
The Company anticipates recording additional expenses of between approximately $10 million and $12 million related 
to this restructuring plan consisting of severance and other expenses in the fourth quarter of 2011 and through 2012.   
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The following table sets forth exit and disposal activity in accordance with ASC 420, “Exit or Disposal Cost 
Obligations" (“ASC 420”) in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations for the first 
nine months of 2011:

Employee Separation Expenses:
SG&A
COGS
Total Employee Separation Expenses

Other Costs and Expenses:
SG&A
COGS
Total Other Costs and Expenses

Total Restructuring Activity:
SG&A
COGS

Balance
12/31/10

(Amounts in millions)

$ 2.0
0.1
2.1

0.9
—
0.9

2.9
0.1

$ 3.0

Provision

$ 1.6
2.2
3.8

0.5
0.1
0.6

2.1
2.3

$ 4.4

Payments
and Asset

Write Downs

$ (3.1)
(1.9)
(5.0)

(1.1)
(0.1)
(1.2)

(4.2)
(2.0)

$ (6.2)

Other

$ (0.1)
—

(0.1)

—
—
—

(0.1)
—

$ (0.1)

Balance
10/1/11

$ 0.4
0.4
0.8

0.3
—
0.3

0.7
0.4

$ 1.1

Employee separation expenses are comprised of severance, vacation, outplacement and retention bonus payments. Other 
costs include expenses associated with asset write-downs, terminating other contractual arrangements, costs to prepare 
facilities for closure, and costs to move equipment and products to other facilities.

(L) Retirement of Richard L. Bready

On June 30, 2011, the Company announced that Richard L. Bready planned to retire from the positions of Chairman of 
the Board of Directors, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, effective as of July 1, 2011 (the “Retirement 
Date”).

Under the terms of his existing employment agreement and by agreement dated June 30, 2011 (the “Separation 
Agreement”), and in consideration for the observation by Mr. Bready of certain restrictive covenants for a period of 12 
months after the Retirement Date, a release of claims against the Company, a non-disparagement covenant, and his 
agreement to provide certain consulting and transition services to the Company in connection with his retirement from 
the Company, Mr. Bready will receive: (i) a severance payment of $5,250,000, payable over 18 months in equal 
installments; (ii) a lump sum payment of $1,000,000 in lieu of the lifetime health and medical coverage which would 
have been due under Mr. Bready's existing employment agreement, with a tax gross-up; (iii) approximately $750,000, 
payable over 18 months in equal installments in respect of certain perquisites set forth in Mr. Bready's employment 
agreement. Due to the requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and pursuant to Company 
policy, the cash payments noted above that are due to Mr. Bready in connection with his separation from service will 
delayed for a period of six months. All unvested equity awards held by Mr. Bready as of the Retirement Date were 
forfeited, except that half of his stock options that would have vested later this year were deemed vested. Mr. Bready's 
vested stock options will remain exercisable until the earlier of (i) five years from the Retirement Date or (ii) the expiration 
date of the stock options.

As a result, the Company recorded approximately $0.2 million and $8.7 million of severance expense within SG&A 
during the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, respectively, related to the Separation Agreement.
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Item 2.      Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Executive Overview

We are a diversified manufacturer of innovative, branded residential and commercial building products, operating within four 
reporting segments:
 

• the Residential Ventilation Products (“RVP”) segment,
• the Technology Products (“TECH”) segment,
• the Residential Air Conditioning and Heating Products (“R-HVAC”) segment, and
• the Commercial Air Conditioning and Heating Products (“C-HVAC”) segment.

 

Through these segments, we manufacture and sell, primarily in the United States, Canada and Europe, a wide variety of products 
for the remodeling and replacement markets, the residential and commercial new construction markets, the manufactured housing 
market and the personal and enterprise computer markets.
 
The RVP segment manufactures and sells room and whole house ventilation and other products primarily for the professional 
remodeling and replacement markets, the residential new construction market and the DIY market. The principal products sold 
by this segment include kitchen range hoods, exhaust fans (such as bath fans and fan, heater and light combination units) and 
indoor air quality products.
 
The TECH segment, formerly known as the Home Technology Products ("HTP") segment, manufactures and distributes a broad 
array of products designed to provide convenience and security for residential and certain commercial applications. The principal 
product categories sold in this segment include audio/video distribution and control equipment, security and access control products, 
and digital display mounting and mobility products.
 

The R-HVAC segment manufactures and sells heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems for site-built residential and 
manufactured housing structures and certain commercial markets. The principal products sold by the segment are split-system 
and packaged air conditioners and heat pumps, air handlers, furnaces and related equipment.
 
The C-HVAC segment manufactures and sells heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems for custom-designed commercial 
applications to meet customer specifications. The principal products sold by the segment are large custom rooftop cooling and 
heating products.
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Basis of Presentation

We operate on a calendar year and for our interim periods we operate on a 4-4-5 fiscal calendar, where each fiscal quarter is 
comprised of two 4-week periods and one 5-week period, with each week ending on a Saturday. Our fiscal year always begins on 
January 1 and ends on December 31.  As a result, our first and fourth quarters may have more or less days included than a traditional 
4-4-5 fiscal calendar, which consists of 91 days. The third quarters ended October 1, 2011 (“third quarter of 2011”) and October 2, 
2010 (“third quarter of 2010”) each include 91 days.  The first nine months ended October 1, 2011 ("first nine months of 2011") 
and October 2, 2010 ("first nine months of 2010") include 274 days and 275 days, respectively.

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") is intended to help the 
reader understand Nortek, Inc., our operations and our present business environment. MD&A is provided as a supplement to, and 
should be read in conjunction with, our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes contained in this report. 
Unless the context requires otherwise, the terms “Nortek,” “Company,” “we” and “our” in this MD&A refer to Nortek, Inc. and 
its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Industry Overview
 
Critical factors affecting our future performance, including our level of sales, profitability and cash flows, are the levels of residential 
remodeling and replacement activity and new residential and non-residential construction activity. These factors are affected by 
seasonality and cyclical factors such as interest rates, inflation, consumer spending, employment levels and other macroeconomic 
factors, over which we have no control. Any decline in economic activity as a result of these or other factors typically results in 
a decline in residential and non-residential new construction and, to a lesser extent, residential and non-residential remodeling and 
replacement spending, which would result in a decrease in our sales, profitability and cash flows.

Instability in the credit and financial markets, troubles in the mortgage market, the level of unemployment and the decline in home 
values have had a negative impact on residential and non-residential new construction activity, consumer disposable income and 
spending on home remodeling and repair expenditures. These factors have had an adverse effect on our operating results for the 
last three years.

Changes in key industry activity affecting our businesses in the United States for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, 
the fourth quarter of 2010 and the full year of 2010 as compared to the same periods of 2010 and 2009, respectively, were as 
follows:
 

 
 

Private residential construction spending
Total housing starts
New home sales
Existing home sales
Residential improvement spending
Central air conditioning and heat pump shipments
Private non-residential construction spending
Manufactured housing shipments
Residential fixed investment spending

Source of
Data

1
1
1
2
1
3
1
1
4

% Increase (Decrease)
3rd Quarter

2011

(3)%
6 %
4 %

18 %
(4)%
11 %
6 %
3 %
2 %

1st Nine Months
2011

(3)%
(2)%
(9)%
— %
2 %

13 %
— %
(7)%
(3)%

4th Quarter
2010

(7)%
(3)%

(21)%
(19)%
(5)%
(4)%

(12)%
(16)%
(6)%

Full Year
2010

(3)%
6 %

(14)%
(5)%
— %
— %

(24)%
— %
(4)%

Source of data:
(1) U.S. Census Bureau
(2) National Association of Realtors
(3) Air Conditioning and Refrigeration Institute
(4) U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis
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In addition, according to the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, Canadian housing starts increased approximately 6% 
in the third quarter of 2011 as compared to the third quarter of 2010, decreased approximately 1% in the first nine months of 2011 
as compared to the first nine months of 2010, increased approximately 1% in the fourth quarter of 2010 as compared to the fourth 
quarter of 2009 and increased approximately 27% for the full year of 2010 as compared to the full year of 2009.
  
The demand for certain of our products is seasonal, particularly in the Northeast and Midwest regions of the United States where 
inclement weather during winter months usually reduces the level of building and remodeling activity in both home improvement 
and new construction markets, thereby reducing our sales levels during the first and fourth quarters.
 
We are subject to the effects of changing prices and the impact of inflation which could have a significant adverse effect on our 
results of operations. In some circumstances, market conditions or customer expectations may prevent us from increasing the 
prices of our products to offset the inflationary pressures that may increase costs in the future.   During the first nine months of 
2011, we experienced higher material costs as a percentage of net sales as compared to the same period of 2010 related primarily 
to changes in product mix, higher prices related to the purchase of purchased components, such as electrical components, plastics 
and packaging, as well as from lower sales prices in the C-HVAC segment for jobs signed during the second half of 2010 and 
delivered in the first half of 2011.  A portion of these increases was offset by strategic sourcing initiatives and improvements in 
manufacturing processes. Should these price levels continue or increase further there can be no assurance that we will be able to 
sufficiently increase sales prices to offset the adverse effect on earnings from rising material costs.
 
Excluding the effect of acquisitions, freight costs remained unchanged during the third quarter of 2011 as compared to the third 
quarter of 2010 and increased slightly during the first nine months of 2011 as compared to the first nine months of 2010.  This 
increase in freight costs during the first nine months of 2011 is primarily due to increased fuel costs worldwide. These increases 
were partially offset by a decrease in ocean freight costs in the first nine months of 2011 due to overcapacity in the ocean market.  
Continued strategic sourcing initiatives and other cost reduction measures help mitigate fluctuations in freight costs.  

Outlook

Our outlook for the remainder of 2011 is for the housing markets to remain weak. Continued low consumer confidence, high 
unemployment levels and a continued high level of foreclosures are expected to continue to depress the housing markets. The 
non-residential market, which slowed in 2010, is expected to remain weak throughout 2011. These continued depressed market 
conditions, together with commodity cost pressures, continue to challenge our 2011 performance. 

We are looking at our business with a long-term view and a continued focus on our low-cost country sourcing strategy and cost 
reduction initiatives. Balance sheet management is an extremely important priority for all of our businesses in order to maximize 
cash flow from operating activities. During this challenging environment, we will fund necessary capital investments that will 
improve our business operations. 

Acquisitions
 
We have made the following acquisitions since January 1, 2010: 

Reporting
Segment
TECH

TECH

TECH

 
 

 

Acquired Company
Skycam, LLC

Ergotron, Inc.

TV One Broadcast Sales
Corporation; Barcom (UK)
Holdings Limited; and
Barcom Asia Holdings, LLC

 
 

 

Acquisition Date
July 6, 2010

December 17, 2010

April 28, 2011

 
 

 

Primary Business of Acquired Company
Distribution and sale of security cameras and digital video
recorders via the Internet.
Design, manufacture and sale of innovative, ergonomic mounting
and mobility products for computer monitors, notebooks and flat
panel displays in the United States and other parts of the world.
Design, manufacture and sale of a complete range of video signal
processing products for the professional audio/video and broadcast
markets.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our unaudited condensed consolidated 
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  Certain of our 
accounting policies require the application of judgment in selecting the appropriate assumptions for calculating financial 
estimates.  By their nature, these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty.  We periodically evaluate the judgments 
and estimates used for our critical accounting policies to ensure that such judgments and estimates are reasonable for our interim 
and year-end reporting requirements.  These judgments and estimates are based on our historical experience, current trends and 
information available from other sources, as appropriate.  If different conditions result from those assumptions used in our 
judgments, the results could be materially different from our estimates.

Our critical accounting policies include:

• Revenue Recognition, Accounts Receivable and Related Expenses,
• Inventory Valuation,
• Income Taxes,
• Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets,
• Pensions and Post-Retirement Health Benefits,
• Warranty,
• Insurance Liabilities, including Product Liability, and
• Contingencies.

The Company's critical accounting policy with respect to insurance liabilities, including product liability, is summarized below.  
Further detail regarding our other critical accounting policies can be found in the consolidated financial statements and the notes 
included in our annual report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Insurance Liabilities, including Product Liability

We record insurance liabilities and related expenses for health, workers compensation, product and general liability losses, and 
other insurance reserves and expenses in accordance with either the contractual terms of our policies or, if self-insured, the total 
liabilities that are estimable and probable as of the reporting date. Insurance liabilities are recorded as current liabilities to the 
extent payments are expected to be made in the succeeding year with the remaining requirements classified as long-term liabilities. 
The accounting for self-insured plans requires that significant judgments and estimates be made both with respect to the future 
liabilities to be paid for known claims, and incurred but not reported claims as of the reporting date. We consider historical trends 
when determining the appropriate insurance reserves to record. In certain cases where partial insurance coverage exists, we must 
estimate the portion of the liability that will be covered by existing insurance policies to arrive at our net expected liability. 
Receivables for insurance recoveries for product liability claims are recorded as assets, on an undiscounted basis, in the 
accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet as of October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010. These recoveries 
are estimated based on the contractual arrangements with vendors and other third parties and historical trends.  We believe that 
our procedures for estimating such amounts are reasonable.
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Results of Operations

The following table presents the financial information for our reporting segments for the third quarter of 2011 and 2010:

 
 
 
Net sales:
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products

Consolidated net sales
Operating earnings (loss):
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products

Subtotal
Executive retirement
Unallocated, net

Consolidated operating earnings
Depreciation and amortization expense:
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products
Unallocated

Consolidated depreciation and
    amortization expense

Operating earnings margin:
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products

Consolidated
Depreciation and amortization expense
    as a % of net sales:
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products

Consolidated

For the third quarter of
2011

(Dollar amounts in millions)
 
$ 146.5

196.1
98.0

111.2
$ 551.8

 
$ 4.1

13.6
—
4.9

22.6
(0.2)
(8.4)

$ 14.0
 

$ 7.2
7.9
3.0
3.2
0.1

$ 21.4
 

2.8%
6.9
—
4.4
2.6%

 
4.9%
4.0
3.1
2.9
3.9%

2010

 
$ 146.0

139.7
119.0
91.9

$ 496.6
 

$ 13.4
13.9
4.4
0.7

32.4
—

(5.7)
$ 26.7

 
$ 8.0

4.3
3.8
3.0
0.1

$ 19.2
 

9.2%
9.9
3.7
0.8
5.4%

 
5.5%
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.9%

Net Change
 $

 
$ 0.5

56.4
(21.0)
19.3

$ 55.2
 

$ (9.3)
(0.3)
(4.4)
4.2

(9.8)
(0.2)
(2.7)

$ (12.7)
 

$ (0.8)
3.6

(0.8)
0.2
—

$ 2.2
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

%

 
0.3 %

40.4
(17.6)
21.0
11.1 %

(69.4)%
(2.2)

(100.0)
*

(30.2)
*

(47.4)
(47.6)%

 
(10.0)%
83.7

(21.1)
6.7
—

11.5 %
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

* not meaningful or not applicable
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The following table presents the financial information for our reporting segments for the first nine months of 2011 and 2010:

 
 
 
Net sales:
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products

Consolidated net sales
Operating earnings (loss):
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products

Subtotal
Executive retirement
Unallocated, net

Consolidated operating earnings
Depreciation and amortization expense:
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products
Unallocated

Consolidated depreciation and
    amortization expense

Operating earnings margin:
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products

Consolidated
Depreciation and amortization expense
    as a % of net sales:
Residential ventilation products
Technology products
Residential HVAC products
Commercial HVAC products

Consolidated

For the first nine months of
2011

(Dollar amounts in millions)
 
$ 447.9

534.0
306.7
316.7

$ 1,605.3
 

$ 22.9
34.3
4.7
5.1

67.0
(8.7)

(21.6)
$ 36.7

 
$ 21.6

31.5
9.3
9.2
0.2

$ 71.8
 

5.1%
6.4
1.5
1.6
2.3%

 
4.8%
5.9
3.0
2.9
4.5%

2010

 
$ 453.1

349.4
361.3
272.7

$ 1,436.5
 

$ 43.2
10.4
18.6
5.3

77.5
—

(19.5)
$ 58.0

 
$ 26.3

20.4
12.4
13.4
0.2

$ 72.7
 

9.5%
3.0
5.1
1.9
4.1%

 
5.8%
5.8
3.4
4.9
5.1%

Net Change
 $

 
$ (5.2)

184.6
(54.6)
44.0

$ 168.8
 

$ (20.3)
23.9

(13.9)
(0.2)

(10.5)
(8.7)
(2.1)

$ (21.3)
 

$ (4.7)
11.1
(3.1)
(4.2)

—

$ (0.9)
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

%

 
(1.1)%
52.8

(15.1)
16.1
11.8 %

(47.0)%
*

(74.7)
(3.8)

(13.5)
*

(10.8)
(36.7)%

 
(17.9)%
54.4

(25.0)
(31.3)

—

(1.2)%
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

* not meaningful or not applicable
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The following table presents our financial information for the third quarter of 2011 and 2010.  The results of operations for the 
third quarter of 2011 are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for any other interim period or the 
full year.

 
 
 
 
Net Sales
Cost of products sold
Selling, general and administrative expense, net
Amortization of intangible assets
Operating earnings
Interest expense
Investment income
(Loss) earnings before benefit from income taxes
Benefit from income taxes
Net (loss) earnings

For the third quarter of
2011

(Dollar amounts in millions)
$ 551.8

409.6
117.1
11.1
14.0

(24.6)
—

(10.6)
(8.5)

$ (2.1)

2010

$ 496.6
361.4
100.1

8.4
26.7

(22.9)
0.1
3.9

(5.9)
$ 9.8

Net Change
in Earnings

 $

$ 55.2
(48.2)
(17.0)
(2.7)

(12.7)
(1.7)
(0.1)

(14.5)
2.6

$ (11.9)

%

11.1%
(13.3)
(17.0)
(32.1)
(47.6)
(7.4)

(100.0)
*

44.1
*%

 
 
 
Net Sales
Cost of products sold
Selling, general and administrative expense, net
Amortization of intangible assets
Operating earnings
Interest expense
Investment income
(Loss) earnings before benefit from income taxes
Benefit from income taxes
Net (loss) earnings

Percentage of net sales for
the third quarter of

2011
100.0 %
74.2
21.2
2.0
2.6

(4.5)
—

(1.9)
(1.5)
(0.4)%

2010
100.0%
72.8
20.2
1.6
5.4

(4.6)
—
0.8

(1.2)
2.0%

 
Net Change

in Percentage
— %

(1.4)
(1.0)
(0.4)
(2.8)
0.1
—

(2.7)
0.3

(2.4)%
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The following table presents our financial information for the first nine months of 2011 and 2010.  The results of operations for 
the first nine months of 2011 are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for any other interim period 
or the full year.

 
 
 
 
Net Sales
Cost of products sold
Selling, general and administrative expense, net
Amortization of intangible assets
Operating earnings
Interest expense
Loss from debt retirement
Investment income
Loss before benefit from income taxes
Benefit from income taxes
Net loss

For the first nine months of
2011

(Dollar amounts in millions)
$ 1,605.3

1,183.3
351.4
33.9
36.7

(81.0)
(33.8)

0.1
(78.0)
(22.9)

$ (55.1)

2010

$ 1,436.5
1,051.5

298.0
29.0
58.0

(69.9)
—
0.1

(11.8)
(8.5)

$ (3.3)

Net Change
in Earnings

 $

$ 168.8
(131.8)
(53.4)
(4.9)

(21.3)
(11.1)
(33.8)

—
(66.2)
14.4

$ (51.8)

%

11.8%
(12.5)
(17.9)
(16.9)
(36.7)
(15.9)

*
—

*
*

*%

 
 
 
Net Sales
Cost of products sold
Selling, general and administrative expense, net
Amortization of intangible assets
Operating earnings
Interest expense
Loss from debt retirement
Investment income
Loss before benefit from income taxes
Benefit from income taxes
Net loss

Percentage of net sales for
the first nine months of
2011

100.0 %
73.7
21.9
2.1
2.3

(5.0)
(2.1)

—
(4.8)
(1.4)
(3.4)%

2010
100.0 %
73.2
20.7
2.0
4.1

(4.9)
—
—

(0.8)
(0.6)
(0.2)%

 
Net Change

in Percentage
— %

(0.5)
(1.2)
(0.1)
(1.8)
(0.1)
(2.1)

—
(4.0)
0.8

(3.2)%
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Our reporting segments sell a significant number of different products across a wide range of price points and numerous distribution 
channels that do not always allow meaningful quantitative analysis to be performed with respect to the effect on net sales of 
changes in units sold or the price per unit sold.  However, whenever the underlying causes of material increases or decreases in 
consolidated net sales can be adequately analyzed and quantified, we attempt to make appropriate disclosure of such reasons, 
including changes in price, volume and the mix of products sold.

Third quarter and first nine months ended October 1, 2011 as compared to the third quarter and first nine months ended 
October 2, 2010 

Net Sales.  As discussed further in the following paragraphs, net sales for the third quarter of 2011 increased by approximately 
$55.2 million, or 11.1%, as compared to the third quarter of 2010 and for the first nine months of 2011, increased approximately 
$168.8 million, or 11.8%, as compared to the first nine months of 2010.  The effect of acquisitions and changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates increased net sales by approximately $58.8 million and $4.1 million, respectively, in the third quarter of 2011 and 
increased net sales by approximately $169.3 million and $15.1 million, respectively, in the first nine months of 2011.  Excluding 
the effect of acquisitions and changes in foreign currency exchange rates, net sales for the third quarter and first nine months of 
2011 decreased by approximately $7.7 million and $15.6 million, respectively as compared to the same periods of 2010.

In the RVP segment, net sales for the third quarter of 2011 increased approximately $0.5 million, or 0.3%, as compared to the 
third quarter of 2010 and decreased approximately $5.2 million, or 1.1% for the first nine months of 2011 as compared to the first 
nine months of 2010.  Net sales in the RVP segment for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 reflect an increase of 
approximately $2.7 million and $9.4 million, respectively, attributable to the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates.  Excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, net sales in the RVP segment for the third quarter and 
first nine months of 2011 decreased approximately $2.2 million and $14.6 million, respectively, as compared to the same periods 
of 2010.   Excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, the change in net sales for the third quarter and first 
nine months of 2011 is primarily the result of a decrease in the RVP segment’s Canadian business of approximately $1.4 million 
and $8.4 million, respectively, and to a lesser extent a decrease in the RVP segment's United States business of approximately $0.9 
million and $6.1 million, respectively.   These declines in North American sales are primarily attributable to industry wide declines 
in residential remodeling activities, new housing starts, as well as new and existing home sales during the first nine months of 
2011.  Excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, the RVP segment’s European range hood business 
declined slightly in the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 as compared to the same periods of 2010.  Kitchen range hoods 
and bathroom exhaust fans are the largest product categories sold in the RVP segment, accounting for approximately 79% of the 
RVP segment’s total sales for both the third quarter of 2011 and 2010, respectively, as well as for both the first nine months of 
2011 and 2010, respectively.

In the TECH segment, net sales for the third quarter of 2011 increased approximately $56.4 million, or 40.4%, as compared to the 
third quarter of 2010 and increased approximately $184.6 million, or 52.8% in the first nine months of 2011 as compared to the 
first nine months of 2010.  These increases are primarily related to the effect of acquisitions which contributed approximately 
$58.8 million and $169.3 million of net sales in the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, respectively.  Increased sales of 
security and access control products, including the addition of a new customer to the segment in 2010, also contributed to the 
overall increase in net sales in the TECH segment for the first nine months of 2011.  This new customer contributed approximately 
$1.5 million and $16.7 million in additional net sales during the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, respectively, as 
compared to the same periods of 2010.  See "Liquidity and Capital Resources - Risks and Uncertainties". Partially offsetting these 
increases in net sales were slight declines in sales of audio/video distribution and control products.  

Sales of security and access control products accounted for approximately 37% and 52% of total TECH segment net sales in the 
third quarter of 2011 and 2010, respectively, and accounted for approximately 32% and 45% of total TECH segment net sales in 
the first nine months of 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Sales of audio/video distribution and control products accounted for 
approximately 27% and 36% of total TECH segment net sales in the third quarter of 2011 and 2010, respectively, and accounted 
for approximately 29% and 43% of total TECH segment net sales in the first nine months of 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Digital 
display mounting and mobility products accounted for approximately 36% and 12% of total TECH segment net sales in the third 
quarter of 2011 and 2010, respectively, and accounted for approximately 39% and 12% of total TECH segment net sales in the 
first nine months of 2011 and 2010, respectively.  The increase in sales for digital display mounting and mobility products is 
primarily the result of the acquisition of Ergotron in late 2010.
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In the R-HVAC segment, net sales for the third quarter of 2011 decreased approximately $21.0 million, or 17.6%, as compared 
to the third quarter of 2010 and decreased approximately $54.6 million, or 15.1%, in the first nine months of 2011 as compared 
to the first nine months of 2010.  This decrease was primarily driven by lower demand due to overall economic conditions and 
the continued depressed housing market, as well as substantially lower shipments to certain customers during the third quarter 
and first nine months of 2011 as compared to the same periods of 2010.  We believe that this decrease in the first nine months of 
2011 was also driven largely by air conditioning sales during the last four months of 2010 to customers serving the residential 
site-built market for use as replacement products due to uncertainty of product availability subsequent to January 1, 2011.  As a 
result of these sales, we believe the segment experienced lower shipments in the first half of 2011 as these customers worked down 
their inventory levels.  In addition, we estimate that other shipments of between approximately $3.5 million and $5.0 million were 
shipped to customers in the fourth quarter of 2010 that would have otherwise been shipped during the first quarter of 2011 primarily 
due to announced price increases effective January 1, 2011.  These decreases were partially offset by the effect of increased sales 
prices effective January 1, 2011 and June 15, 2011.  

In the C-HVAC segment, net sales for the third quarter of 2011 increased approximately $19.3 million, or 21.0%, as compared to 
the third quarter of 2010 and increased approximately $44.0 million, or 16.1%, in the first nine months of 2011 as compared to 
the first nine months of 2010.  Net sales in the C-HVAC segment for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 reflect an 
increase of approximately $1.4 million and $5.7 million, respectively, attributable to the effect of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates.  Excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, net sales in the C-HVAC segment for the 
third quarter and first nine months of 2011 increased approximately $17.9 million and $38.3 million, respectively.  This increase 
in net sales is primarily the result of increased shipment levels of air handlers in the U.S. market, net of lower prices on contracts 
negotiated in the second half of 2010 and delivered in the first quarter of 2011.  In the second and third quarters of 2011, delivery 
of contracts with expanded margins over the margins in the first quarter of 2011 was also a factor.  Backlog for C-HVAC products 
was approximately $246.2 million at October 1, 2011, approximately $179.8 million at December 31, 2010 and approximately 
$167.9 million at October 2, 2010.  This increase in backlog, since December 31, 2010, reflects an increase in orders and improved 
pricing during the first nine months of 2011 principally for jobs expected to be delivered during the remainder of 2011 and the 
first half of 2012.

Foreign net sales, which are attributed based on the location of our subsidiary responsible for the sale, were approximately 21.7% 
and 19.9% of consolidated net sales for the third quarter of 2011 and 2010, respectively, and were approximately 22.0% and 20.2% 
of consolidated net sales for the first nine months of 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Net sales from our Canadian subsidiaries were 
approximately 10.5% of consolidated net sales for both the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 and were approximately 
11.6% of consolidated net sales for both the third quarter and first nine months of 2010.  Net sales from our Canadian subsidiaries 
include net sales from the RVP and C-HVAC segments.  Net sales from our European subsidiaries were approximately 7.7% and 
5.7% of consolidated net sales for the third quarter of 2011 and 2010, respectively, and were approximately 7.9% and 6.3% of 
consolidated net sales for the first nine months of 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Net sales from our European subsidiaries include 
net sales from the RVP, TECH and C-HVAC segments.  

Cost of Products Sold.  Consolidated cost of products sold (“COGS”) for the third quarter of 2011 was approximately $409.6 
million as compared to approximately $361.4 million for the third quarter of 2010 and was approximately $1,183.3 million for 
the first nine months of 2011 as compared to approximately $1,051.5 million for the first nine months of 2010.  These changes 
are primarily due to the factors described above and below.

For the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, COGS includes, among others, (1) approximately $34.8 million and $107.0 
million, respectively, related to acquisitions made in 2011 and 2010 within the TECH segment (including approximately $7.5 
million in non-cash charges related to the amortization of fair value allocated to inventory in the first nine months of 2011), (2) 
an increase of approximately $3.4 million and $12.5 million, respectively, related to the effect of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates, (3) approximately $5.3 million recorded during the third quarter of 2011 relating to additional warranty expense 
within the TECH segment related to a certain customer, (4) a decrease in depreciation expense of approximately $1.3 million and 
$4.5 million, respectively, as compared to the same periods of 2010  related to operations other than acquisitions made subsequent 
to October 2, 2010, and (5) approximately $0.8 million and $2.3 million, respectively, of severance and other charges relating 
primarily to exit and disposal activities.  For the third quarter and first nine months of 2010, COGS includes, among others, (1) 
approximately $0.3 million and $12.3 million, respectively, in non-cash charges related to the amortization of fair value allocated 
to inventory, (2) a gain of approximately $5.0 million and $3.0 million, respectively, related to the reversal of previously provided 
loss contingency reserves related to one of our subsidiaries in our TECH segment and (3) a reduction in warranty reserves of 
approximately $4.5 million due to the Company's change in estimate of expected warranty claims within the RVP and C-HVAC 
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segments.

COGS as a percentage of net sales increased from approximately 72.8% for the third quarter of 2010 to approximately 74.2% for 
the third quarter of 2011 and increased slightly from approximately 73.2% for the first nine months of 2010 to approximately 
73.7% for the first nine months of 2011.

We continually review the costs of our product lines and look for opportunities to help offset the rising costs of raw materials and 
transportation when possible.  

Overall, consolidated material costs for the third quarter of 2011 were approximately $271.3 million, or 49.2% of net sales, as 
compared to approximately $248.5 million, or 50.1% of net sales, for the third quarter of 2010.  Consolidated material costs for 
the first nine months of 2011 were approximately $772.9 million, or 48.1% of net sales, as compared to approximately $684.6 
million, or 47.7% of net sales, for the first nine months of 2010.  During the first nine months of 2011, we experienced higher 
material costs as a percentage of net sales as compared to the same period of 2010 related primarily to changes in product mix, 
higher prices related to the purchase of purchased components, such as electrical components, plastics and packaging, as well as 
from lower sales prices in the C-HVAC segment for jobs signed during the second half of 2010 and delivered in the first quarter 
of 2011.  A portion of these increases was offset by strategic sourcing initiatives and improvements in manufacturing processes.  
Should these price levels continue or increase further there can be no assurance that we will be able to sufficiently increase sales 
prices to offset the adverse effect on earnings from rising material costs.

Direct labor costs for the third quarter of 2011 were approximately $30.5 million, or 5.5% of net sales, as compared to approximately 
$28.3 million, or 5.7% of net sales, for the third quarter of 2010.  Direct labor costs for the first nine months of 2011 were 
approximately $92.7 million, or 5.8% of net sales, as compared to approximately $82.0 million, or 5.7% of net sales, for the first 
nine months of 2010.  Excluding the effect of acquisitions, direct labor costs as a percentage of net sales for the third quarter and 
first nine months of 2011 increased to approximately 6.0% and 6.2%, respectively, as compared to approximately 5.7% for the 
third quarter and first nine months of 2010, respectively.  This increase in direct labor costs, as a percentage of net sales, for the 
first nine months of 2011 is primarily the result of lower sales prices in the C-HVAC segment for jobs signed during the second 
half of 2010 and delivered in the first quarter of 2011.

Overhead and other costs, including freight, for the third quarter of 2011 were approximately $107.8 million, or 19.5% of net 
sales, as compared to approximately $84.6 million, or 17.0% of net sales, for the third quarter of 2010.  Overhead and other costs, 
including freight, for the first nine months of 2011 were approximately $317.7 million, or 19.8% of net sales, as compared to 
approximately $284.9 million, or 19.8% of net sales, for the first nine months of 2010.  Overhead and other costs for the third 
quarter and first nine months of 2011 includes, among others, approximately $8.4 million and $29.9 million, respectively, related 
to acquisitions made in 2011 and 2010 within the TECH segment (including approximately $7.5 million in non-cash charges 
related to the amortization of fair value allocated to inventory in the first nine months of 2011) and approximately $5.3 million 
recorded during the third quarter of 2011 relating to additional warranty expense within the TECH segment related to a certain 
customer.  For the third quarter and first nine months of 2010, COGS includes, among others, (1) approximately $0.3 million and 
$12.3 million, respectively, in non-cash charges related to the amortization of fair value allocated to inventory, (2) a gain of 
approximately $5.0 million and $3.0 million, respectively, related to the reversal of previously provided loss contingency reserves 
related to one of our subsidiaries in our TECH segment and (3) a reduction in warranty reserves of approximately $4.5 million 
due to the Company's change in estimate of expected warranty claims within the RVP and C-HVAC segments.

Freight costs were approximately 4.7% and 4.5% of net sales for the third quarter of 2011 and 2010, respectively, and were 
approximately 5.0% and 4.7% of net sales for the first nine months of 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Excluding the effect of 
acquisitions, freight costs remained unchanged during the third quarter of 2011 as compared to the third quarter of 2010 and 
increased slightly during the first nine months of 2011 as compared to the first nine months of 2010.  This increase in freight costs 
during the first nine months of 2011 is primarily due to increased fuel costs worldwide. These increases were partially offset by 
a decrease in ocean freight costs in the first nine months of 2011 due to overcapacity in the ocean market.  Continued strategic 
sourcing initiatives and other cost reduction measures help mitigate fluctuations in freight costs.  

Overall, changes in COGS (including material, direct labor, overhead and freight costs) as a percentage of net sales for one period 
as compared to another period may reflect a number of factors including changes in the relative mix of products sold, the effect 
of changes in sales prices and material costs, as well as changes in productivity levels.
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In the RVP segment, COGS for the third quarter of 2011 was approximately $109.1 million, or 74.5% of the segment’s net sales, 
as compared to approximately $103.9 million, or 71.2% of the segment’s net sales, for the third quarter of 2010.  In the RVP 
segment, COGS for the first nine months of 2011 was approximately $330.8 million, or 73.9% of the segment’s net sales, as 
compared to approximately $320.2 million, or 70.7% of the segment’s net sales, for the first nine months of 2010.  The increase 
in the percentage of COGS to net sales in the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 primarily reflects an increase in material 
costs as a percentage of net sales resulting primarily from higher prices related to the purchase of steel and certain component 
parts, such as motors, electrical components and packaging, and to a lesser extent, also reflects an increase in overhead and other 
costs as a percentage of net sales primarily related to a decrease in sales volume without a proportionate decrease in overhead 
costs.  In the RVP segment, overhead and other costs, including freight, for the third quarter of 2011 were approximately $36.6 
million, or 25.0% of the segment’s net sales, as compared to approximately $35.8 million, or 24.5% of the segment’s net sales, 
for the third quarter of 2010.  In the RVP segment, overhead and other costs, including freight, for the first nine months of 2011 
were approximately $113.6 million, or 25.4% of the segment’s net sales, as compared to approximately $112.4 million, or 24.8% 
of the segment’s net sales, for the first nine months of 2010.  COGS in the RVP segment for the third quarter and first nine months 
of 2011 also reflects (1) an increase of approximately $2.3 million and $7.7 million, respectively, related to the effect of changes 
in foreign currency exchange rates, (2) a decrease in depreciation expense of approximately $0.6 million and $2.1 million, 
respectively, as compared to the same periods of 2010, and (3) approximately $0.5 million and $2.0 million, respectively, of 
severance and other charges relating primarily to exit and disposal activities.  Overhead and other costs for the first nine months 
of 2010 includes, among others, approximately $1.4 million in non-cash charges related to the amortization of fair value allocated 
to inventory and a reduction in warranty reserves of approximately $3.5 million due to a change in estimate resulting from favorable 
experience related to claims management improvements.  

In the TECH segment, COGS for the third quarter of 2011 was approximately $128.6 million, or 65.6% of the segment’s net sales, 
as compared to approximately $84.0 million, or 60.1% of the segment’s net sales, for the third quarter of 2010.  In the TECH 
segment, COGS for the first nine months of 2011 was approximately $338.2 million, or 63.3% of the segment’s net sales, as 
compared to approximately $219.6 million, or 62.9% of the segment’s net sales, for the first nine months of 2010.  COGS for the 
third quarter and first nine months of 2011 includes approximately $34.8 million and $107.0 million, respectively, related to 
acquisitions made in 2011 and 2010, including approximately $7.5 million in non-cash charges related to the amortization of fair 
value allocated to inventory in the first half of 2011 and approximately $5.3 million recorded during the third quarter of 2011 
relating to additional warranty expense related to a certain customer.  The increase in the percentage of COGS to net sales for the 
third quarter of 2011 was primarily the result of an increase in overhead costs as a percentage of net sales principally as a result 
of additional warranty expense recorded in the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 as noted above coupled with gains 
recorded in the third quarter and first nine months of 2010 as discussed in the following paragraph, partially offset by a decrease 
in material costs as a percentage of net sales primarily due to acquisitions.  In the TECH segment, overhead and other costs, 
including freight, for the third quarter of 2011 were approximately $28.2 million, or 14.4% of the segment’s net sales, as compared 
to approximately $9.2 million, or 6.6% of the segment’s net sales, for the third quarter of 2010.  In the TECH segment, overhead 
and other costs, including freight, for the first nine months of 2011 were approximately $76.0 million, or 14.2% of the segment’s 
net sales, as compared to approximately $46.0 million, or 13.2% of the segment’s net sales, for the first nine months of 2010.  

In the TECH segment, overhead and other costs within COGS for the third quarter and first nine months of 2010 also includes (1) 
approximately $0.1 million and $9.2 million, respectively, in non-cash charges related to the amortization of fair value allocated 
to inventory and (2) a gain of approximately $5.0 million and $3.0 million, respectively, related to the reversal of previously 
provided loss contingency reserves related to one of our subsidiaries within segment.
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In the R-HVAC segment, COGS for the third quarter of 2011 was approximately $84.0 million, or 85.7% of the segment's net 
sales, as compared to approximately $99.6 million, or 83.7% of the segment's net sales, for the third quarter of 2010.  In the R-
HVAC segment, COGS for the first nine months of 2011 was approximately $260.1 million, or 84.8% of the segment's net sales, 
as compared to approximately $300.7 million, or 83.2% of the segment's net sales, for the first nine months of 2010.  The increase 
in COGS as a percentage of net sales for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 primarily reflects an increase in material 
costs as a percentage of net sales as discussed further below, and in the third quarter of 2011, also reflects an increase in overhead 
costs as a percentage of net sales.  In the R-HVAC segment, overhead and other costs, including freight, for the third quarter of 
2011 were approximately $19.0 million, or 19.4% of the segment's net sales, as compared to approximately $22.3 million, or 
18.7% of the segment's net sales, for the third quarter of 2010.  In the R-HVAC segment, overhead and other costs, including 
freight, for the first nine months of 2011 were approximately $57.9 million, or 18.9% of the segment's net sales, as compared to 
approximately $68.8 million, or 19.0% of the segment's net sales, for the first nine months of 2010.  Overhead costs in the R-
HVAC segment for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 included a decrease in depreciation expense of approximately 
$0.7 million and $2.4 million, respectively, as compared to the same periods of 2010.  Overhead costs in the R-HVAC segment 
for the third quarter and first nine months of 2010 included non-cash charges related to the amortization of fair value allocated to 
inventory of approximately $0.2 million and $1.0 million, respectively, with no corresponding charges in 2011.  Material costs in 
this segment are generally higher as a percentage of net sales than our other segments and were approximately 63.0% and 62.5% 
for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, respectively, as compared to approximately 61.5% and 60.6% for the third 
quarter and first nine months of 2010, respectively.   The increase in material costs as a percentage of net sales is primarily the 
result of a change in the mix of products sold partly due to the expiration of certain energy efficiency tax credits that drove sales 
to higher efficiency units that have higher margins and higher costs.  This increase in material costs as a percentage of net sales 
was partially offset by increased sales prices effective January 1, 2011 and June 15, 2011.

In the C-HVAC segment, COGS for the third quarter of 2011 was approximately $87.9 million, or 79.0% of the segment’s net 
sales, as compared to approximately $73.9 million, or 80.4% of the segment’s net sales, for the third quarter of 2010.  In the C-
HVAC segment, COGS for the first nine months of 2011 was approximately $254.2 million, or 80.3% of the segment’s net sales, 
as compared to approximately $211.0 million, or 77.4% of the segment’s net sales, for the first nine months of 2010.  The decrease 
in COGS as a percentage of net sales for the third quarter of 2011 primarily reflects higher prices on contracts negotiated during 
the first and second quarters of 2011.  The increase in COGS as a percentage of net sales for the first nine months of 2011 primarily 
reflects an increase in material and labor costs as a percentage of net sales due to lower sales prices negotiated on jobs in the 
second half of 2010 and delivered in the first quarter of 2011.  Direct labor costs in this segment are generally higher as a percentage 
of net sales than our other segments and were approximately 14.9% and 15.1% for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, 
respectively, as compared to approximately 15.0% and 14.2% for the third quarter and first nine months of 2010, respectively.  The 
increase in direct labor as a percentage of net sales in the first nine months of 2011 is due, in part, to lower sales prices as noted 
above.  In the C-HVAC segment, overhead and other costs, including freight, for the third quarter of 2011 were approximately 
$24.0 million, or 21.6% of the segment’s net sales, as compared to approximately $17.3 million, or 18.8% of the segment’s net 
sales, for the third quarter of 2010.  In the C-HVAC segment, overhead and other costs, including freight, for the first nine months 
of 2011 were approximately $70.2 million, or 22.2% of the segment’s net sales, as compared to approximately $57.7 million, or 
21.2% of the segment’s net sales, for the first nine months of 2010.  In the C-HVAC segment, COGS for the third quarter and first 
nine months of 2011 also includes an increase of approximately $1.1 million and $4.8 million, respectively, related to the effect 
of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.  For the third quarter and first nine months of 2010, COGS in the C-HVAC segment 
includes (1) a reduction in warranty reserves in the third quarter of 2010 of approximately $1.0 million due to the Company's 
change in estimate of expected warranty claims and (2) approximately $0.7 million in non-cash charges related to the amortization 
of fair value allocated to inventory recorded in the first nine months of 2010 with no corresponding charge in the first nine months 
of 2011.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expense, Net.  Consolidated selling, general and administrative expense, net (“SG&A”) was 
approximately $117.1 million for the third quarter of 2011 as compared to approximately $100.1 million for the third quarter of 
2010 and was approximately $351.4 million for the first nine months of 2011 as compared to approximately $298.0 for the first 
nine months of 2010.  SG&A as a percentage of net sales increased from approximately 20.2% for the third quarter of 2010 to 
approximately 21.2% for the third quarter of 2011 and increased from approximately 20.7% for the first nine months of 2010 to 
approximately 21.9% for the first nine months of 2011.  SG&A for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 reflects (1) 
approximately $0.2 million and $8.7 million, respectively, of severance expense related to the retirement of a Company executive, 
(2) approximately $13.4 million and $39.6 million, respectively, related to acquisitions made in 2011 and 2010 within the TECH 
segment, (3) approximately $0.5 million and $3.1 million, respectively, of severance and other charges relating primarily to exit 
and disposal activities, and (4) an increase of approximately $1.0 million and $3.2 million, respectively, related to the effect of 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.  SG&A for the third quarter and first nine months of 2010 reflects approximately $0.9 
million and $1.5 million, respectively, of severance and other charges related to the closure of certain facilities in the TECH 
segment. 

Amortization of Intangible Assets.  Amortization of intangible assets, including developed technology and backlog, increased from 
approximately $8.4 million for the third quarter of 2010 to approximately $11.1 million for the third quarter of 2011 and increased 
from approximately $29.0 million for the first nine months of 2010 to approximately $33.9 million for the first nine months of 
2011.   This increase in the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 as compared to the same periods of 2010 relates primarily 
to an increase of approximately $3.2 million and $10.6 million, respectively, related to acquisitions made in 2011 and 2010 within 
the TECH segment, partially offset by a decrease primarily related to the amortization of backlog for the C-HVAC segment as a 
result of the application of fresh-start accounting.

Operating Earnings.  Operating earnings decreased approximately $12.7 million from approximately $26.7 million for the third 
quarter of 2010 to approximately $14.0 million for the third quarter of 2011 and decreased approximately $21.3 million from 
approximately $58.0 for the first nine months of 2010 to approximately $36.7 for the first nine months of 2011.  Operating earnings 
for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 includes, among others, (1) approximately $0.2 million and $8.7 million, 
respectively, of severance expense related to the retirement of a Company executive, (2) operating earnings of approximately $7.4 
million (which includes depreciation and amortization of approximately $4.3 million) and $12.1 million (which includes 
depreciation and amortization of approximately $20.8 million, including approximately $7.5 million relating to the amortization 
of fair value allocated to inventory), respectively, related to acquisitions made in 2011 and 2010 within the TECH segment, (3) 
approximately $1.3 million and $5.4 million, respectively, of severance and other charges relating primarily to exit and disposal 
activities, (4) approximately $5.3 million recorded during the third quarter of 2011 relating to additional warranty expense within 
the TECH segment related to a certain customer, and (5) approximately $2.1 million and $21.7 million, respectively, of decreased 
depreciation and amortization expense related to operations other than acquisitions made subsequent to October 2, 2010.  Operating 
earnings for the third quarter and first nine months of 2010 includes, among others, (1) non-cash charges related to the amortization 
of fair value allocated to inventory of approximately $0.3 million and $12.3 million, respectively, (2) a gain of approximately $5.0 
million and $3.0 million, respectively, related to the reversal of previously provided loss contingency reserves related to one of 
our subsidiaries in our TECH segment, (3) approximately $0.9 million and $1.5 million, respectively, of severance and other 
charges related to the closure of certain facilities in the TECH segment, and (4) a reduction in warranty reserves of approximately 
$4.5 million due to the Company's change in estimate of expected warranty claims within the RVP and C-HVAC segments.

Changes in operating earnings between the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 and 2010 are primarily due to the factors 
discussed above and the following operating segment specific factors.
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In the RVP segment, operating earnings for the third quarter of 2011 were approximately $4.1 million as compared to approximately 
$13.4 million for the third quarter of 2010 and were approximately $22.9 million for the first nine months of 2011 as compared 
to approximately $43.2 million for the first nine months of 2010.  The decrease in the RVP segment’s operating earnings for the 
third quarter and first nine months of 2011 is primarily the result of decreased sales volume in the segment’s North American 
business and an increase in material costs and overhead costs as a percentage of net sales.  Operating earnings for the RVP segment 
for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 also reflects (1) approximately $0.8 million and $4.7 million, respectively, of 
decreased depreciation and amortization expense and (2) approximately $0.5 million and $2.9 million, respectively, related to 
severance and other charges relating to exit and disposal activities.  Operating earnings for the RVP segment for the third quarter 
and first nine months of 2010 also reflects a reduction in warranty reserves of approximately $3.5 million due to a change in 
estimate resulting from favorable experience related to claims management improvements.

In the TECH segment, operating earnings for the third quarter of 2011 were approximately $13.6 million as compared to 
approximately $13.9 million for the third quarter of 2010.  In the TECH segment, operating earnings for the first nine months of 
2011 were approximately $34.3 million as compared to approximately $10.4 million for the first nine months of 2010. Operating 
earnings for the TECH segment for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011 reflects an increase of approximately $7.4 
million (which includes depreciation and amortization of approximately $4.3 million) and $12.1 million (which includes 
depreciation and amortization of approximately $20.8 million, including approximately $7.5 million relating to the amortization 
of fair value allocated to inventory), respectively, related to acquisitions made in 2011 and 2010.  Excluding the impact of 
acquisitions, the decrease in operating earnings for the third quarter of 2011 primarily reflects an increase in overhead costs as a 
percentage of net sales, partially offset by a decrease in material costs as a percentage of net sales.  Excluding the impact of 
acquisitions, the increase in operating earnings for the first nine months of 2011 is primarily the result of increased sales volume 
of security and access control products and a decrease in material costs as a percentage of net sales.  Operating earnings for the 
TECH segment for the first nine months of 2011 also includes approximately $1.1 million of severance and other charges relating 
to exit and disposal activities and approximately $5.3 million recorded during the third quarter of 2011 relating to additional 
warranty expense related to a certain customer. The operating results for the TECH segment for the third quarter and first nine 
months of 2010 also includes (1) approximately $0.1 million and $9.2 million, respectively, in non-cash charges related to the 
amortization of fair value allocated to inventory, (2) a gain of approximately $5.0 million and $3.0 million, respectively, related 
to the reversal of previously provided loss contingency reserves related to one of our subsidiaries within the segment, and (3) 
approximately $0.9 million and $1.5 million, respectively, of severance and other charges related to the closure of certain facilities 
within the segment.  

In the R-HVAC segment, operating earnings for the third quarter of 2011 were break even as compared to approximately $4.4 
million for the third quarter of 2010 and were approximately $4.7 million for the first nine months of 2011 as compared to 
approximately $18.6 million for the first nine months of 2010.  The decrease in the R-HVAC segment’s operating earnings for the 
third quarter and first nine months of 2011 is primarily a result of a decrease in sales volume and increased material costs as a 
percentage of net sales, partially offset by increased sales prices.  Operating earnings for the third quarter and first nine months 
of 2011 for the R-HVAC segment also includes a decrease of approximately $0.8 million and $3.1 million, respectively, in 
depreciation and amortization expense.  Operating earnings for the third quarter and first nine months of 2010 for the R-HVAC 
segment included non-cash charges related to the amortization of fair value allocated to inventory of approximately $0.2 million 
and $1.0 million, respectively, with no corresponding charges in 2011.

In the C-HVAC segment, operating earnings for the third quarter of 2011 were approximately $4.9 million as compared to 
approximately $0.7 million for the third quarter of 2010 and were approximately $5.1 million for the first nine months of 2011 as 
compared to approximately $5.3 million for the first nine months of 2010.  This increase in operating earnings for the third quarter 
of 2011 primarily reflects higher prices on contracts negotiated during the first and second quarters of 2011.  In the second and 
third quarters of 2011, delivery of contracts with expanded margins over the margins in the first quarter of 2011 was also a factor.  
Operating earnings for the first nine months of 2011 for the C-HVAC segment also includes a decrease of approximately $4.2 
million in depreciation and amortization expense.  For the third quarter and first nine months of 2010, operating earnings for the 
C-HVAC segment includes a reduction in warranty reserves in the third quarter of 2010 of approximately $1.0 million due to the 
Company's change in estimate of expected warranty claims.
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Operating earnings (loss) of foreign operations, consisting primarily of the results of operations of our Canadian and European 
subsidiaries, were approximately (2.1)% and (10.0)% of consolidated operating earnings (before unallocated and corporate 
expenses) for the third quarter of 2011 and 2010, respectively, and were approximately 9.4% and (1.5)% of consolidated operating 
earnings (before unallocated and corporate expenses) for the first nine months of 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Foreign operating 
earnings of acquisitions contributed approximately $4.3 million and $12.0 million to the increase in the third quarter and first nine 
months of 2011, respectively, as compared to the same periods of 2010.  Net sales and earnings derived from international markets 
are subject to economic, political and currency risks, among others.

Interest Expense.  Interest expense increased approximately $1.7 million, or approximately 7.4%, during the third quarter of 2011 
as compared to the third quarter of 2010 and increased approximately $11.1 million, or approximately 15.9%, during the first nine 
months of 2011 as compared to the first nine months of 2010.  This increase is primarily due to the issuance of our 10% Senior 
Notes due 2018 on November 23, 2010 (the "10% Notes"), partially offset by a decrease in interest expense from the redemption 
of the 11% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 (the "11% Notes") through the issuance of $500.0 million in aggregate principal amount 
of 8.5% Senior Notes due 2021 (the “8.5% Notes”) and entering into a new senior secured term loan with initial borrowings of 
$350.0 million.

Loss from Debt Retirement.  On April 26, 2011, we successfully completed the private placement of the 8.5% Notes and entered 
into a new senior secured term loan with a final maturity in 2017 and optional interest rates at the election of the Company, including 
LIBOR, as defined in the agreement, plus 4.0% with a LIBOR floor of 1.25% (the “Term Loan Facility”). We borrowed $350.0 
million aggregate principal under the Term Loan Facility at a 5.25% interest rate on April 26, 2011, which resulted in net proceeds 
of approximately $348.2 million, after deducting an original issue discount of approximately $1.8 million.  We received 
approximately $827.3 million of net proceeds in connection with the issuance of the 8.5% Notes and Term Loan Facility, after 
deducting approximately $20.9 million of underwriting commissions and legal, accounting and other expenses incurred. We used 
approximately $825.0 million of these net proceeds to repurchase or redeem all of the 11% Notes, which included approximately 
$753.3 million of aggregate outstanding principal balance, approximately $37.8 million of tender and redemption premiums and 
approximately $33.9 million of accrued but unpaid interest as of the redemption dates.  In accordance with ASC 470-50, the 
redemption of the 11% Notes resulted in a pre-tax loss of approximately $33.8 million in the second quarter of 2011.  

Benefit from Income Taxes. The benefit from income taxes for the third quarter of 2011 was approximately $8.5 million as compared 
to approximately $5.9 million for the third quarter of 2010.  The benefit from income taxes for the first nine months of 2011 was 
approximately $22.9 million as compared to approximately $8.5 million for the first nine months of 2010.  The effective income 
tax rate of a benefit of approximately 29.4% for the first nine months of 2011 differs from the expected United States federal 
statutory rate of a benefit of 35% principally as a result of an increase in the valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets 
and the effect of foreign activities, partially offset by changes in the state income tax benefit, net of federal income tax effect.  The 
effective income tax rate of a benefit of approximately 72.0% for the first nine months of 2010 differs from the expected United 
States federal statutory rate of 35% principally as a result of a tax benefit for capitalized research and development costs and a 
decrease in FIN 48 reserves, including interest, partially offset by an increase in the valuation allowances on certain foreign entities 
and the effect of foreign operations. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary liquidity needs are to fund general business requirements, including working capital requirements, capital expenditures, 
interest payments and debt repayments. Our principal sources of liquidity are cash flows from subsidiaries, existing unrestricted 
cash and cash equivalents, and the use of borrowings under our ABL Facility. The indentures related to our 10% Notes, 8.5% 
Notes, the credit agreements governing our ABL Facility and Term Loan Facility, and other agreements governing our indebtedness 
and the indebtedness of our subsidiaries contain certain restrictive financial and operating covenants, including covenants that 
restrict our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to complete acquisitions, pay dividends, incur indebtedness, make investments, 
sell assets, and take certain other corporate actions. See Note G, “Notes, Mortgage Notes and Obligations Payable” to the unaudited 
condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere herein and “Debt Covenant Compliance” below.

There can be no assurance that we will generate sufficient cash flow from the operations of our subsidiaries or that future financings 
will be available on acceptable terms or in amounts sufficient to enable us to service or refinance our indebtedness, or to make 
necessary capital expenditures.

Second Quarter 2011 Debt Transactions

On April 26, 2011, the Company successfully completed the private placement of $500.0 million in aggregate principal amount 
of the 8.5% Notes. The Company also entered into the Term Loan Facility. The Company borrowed $350.0 million aggregate 
principal under the Term Loan Facility at a 5.25% interest rate on April 26, 2011, which resulted in net proceeds to the Company 
of approximately $348.2 million, after deducting an original issue discount of approximately $1.8 million. The Company received 
approximately $827.3 million of net proceeds in connection with the issuance of the 8.5% Notes and Term Loan Facility, after 
deducting approximately $20.9 million of underwriting commissions and legal, accounting and other expenses incurred.  As 
discussed further below, the Company used approximately $825.0 million of these net proceeds to repurchase or redeem all of the 
11% Notes, which included approximately $753.3 million of aggregate outstanding principal balance, approximately $37.8 million 
of tender and redemption premiums and approximately $33.9 million of accrued but unpaid interest as of the redemption dates. 
Net cash from these debt transactions of approximately $2.3 million was retained by the Company for general corporate purposes.

The following is a summary of sources and uses in the second quarter of 2011 related to these debt transactions:

Sources:

Total sources

Uses:

Subtotal - 11% Notes repurchase or redemption

Total uses

Net cash to Nortek

 

Proceeds from issuance of the 8.5% Notes
Proceeds from Term Loan Facility after deducting original issue discount of 
     approximately $1.8 million

Repurchase or redemption of 11% Notes
Tender and redemption premiums for 11% Notes
Accrued and unpaid interest through the date of tender or redemption

Underwriting commissions and legal, accounting and other expenses

(Amounts in millions)

$ 500.0

348.2
848.2

(753.3)
(37.8)
(33.9)

(825.0)
(20.9)

(845.9)

$ 2.3
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During the second quarter of 2011, the Company used approximately $731.1 million of the net proceeds to repurchase approximately 
88.5% or approximately $666.6 million aggregate principal amount of the 11% Notes through a tender offer in accordance with 
the terms of the Company's purchase and consent solicitation statement dated April 12, 2011 (the “Tender Offer”), which was 
completed on April 26, 2011. The Tender Offer entitled the holders of the 11% Notes to receive $1,052.50 per $1,000 in principal 
amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, and resulted in a supplemental indenture to the 11% Notes, which substantially eliminated 
all affirmative and restrictive covenants and certain events of default under the indenture and provided for a shorter notice period 
in connection with a voluntary redemption. The Company used approximately $93.9 million to discharge its remaining obligations 
under the 11% Note indenture (approximately $86.7 million aggregated principal amount) through a deposit in trust funds sufficient 
to pay and discharge all remaining indebtedness, including accrued and unpaid interest, on the 11% Notes in conjunction with the 
notices of redemption sent to the remaining holders of the 11% Notes. Under the terms of the supplemental indenture to the 11% 
Notes, the Company was permitted to redeem $75.0 million aggregate principal amount at 103%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, 
and the remaining $11.7 million aggregate principal amount at 105%, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

As certain holders of the new 8.5% Notes and Term Loan Facility had previously held the 11% Notes up to the time of their 
repurchase or redemption, in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 470-50, "Debt Modifications and 
Extinguishments" (“ASC 470-50”), the Company determined that, of the total approximately $60.5 million of original issue 
discounts, underwriting commissions, legal, accounting and other expenses and tender and redemption premiums, approximately 
$33.8 million should be recorded as a loss on debt retirement and that approximately $11.2 million and $15.5 million should be 
recorded as deferred debt expense and debt discount, respectively, and amortized over the lives of the respective debt instruments. 
The approximately $11.2 million of deferred debt expense was allocated approximately $6.3 million to the 8.5% Notes and 
approximately $4.9 million to the Term Loan Facility. The approximately $15.5 million of debt discount was allocated 
approximately $7.2 million to the 8.5% Notes and approximately $8.3 million to the Term Loan Facility.

Based on the initial interest rate of 5.25% for the Term Loan Facility, the Company expects that its annual cash interest costs will 
be reduced by approximately $22.0 million as a result of the debt transactions described above.  Approximately $82.9 million of 
annual cash interest related to the 11% Notes was eliminated and replaced by approximately $60.9 million of annual cash interest 
related to the 8.5% Notes and the Term Loan Facility.

Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased by approximately $40.7 million from approximately $74.5 million for the first 
nine months of 2010 to approximately $33.8 million for the first nine months of 2011.  This change was primarily the result of a 
decrease in net earnings (after the exclusion of non-cash items, including loss from debt retirement of approximately $33.8 million) 
of approximately $17.5 million combined with an increase in working capital needs of approximately $24.8 million primarily 
related to sales expected to occur in the fourth quarter of 2011.

Net cash used in investing activities increased approximately $29.0 million from approximately $20.1 million for the first nine 
months of 2010 to approximately $49.1 million for the first nine months of 2011.  This increase was primarily the result of an 
increase in net cash paid for businesses acquired of approximately $21.7 million, an investment in a joint venture of approximately 
$5.3 million and an increase in capital expenditures of approximately $1.3 million.  Capital expenditures were approximately 
$13.9 million and $12.6 million for the first nine months of 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Capital expenditures were approximately 
$19.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 and are expected to be between approximately $20.0 million and $25.0 million 
for 2011.  

Net cash from financing activities increased by approximately $105.6 million from net cash used in financing activities of 
approximately $90.8 million for the first nine months of 2010 to net cash provided by financing activities of approximately $14.8 
million for the first nine months of 2011.  This change is primarily the result of the second quarter 2011 debt transactions as noted 
above of approximately $36.0 million, an increase in borrowings of approximately $32.7 million and a decrease in payments 
relating to outstanding borrowings of approximately $38.7 million.

As discussed earlier, we generally use cash flows from operations, and where necessary borrowings, to finance our capital 
expenditures and strategic acquisitions, to meet the service requirements of existing indebtedness and for working capital and 
other general corporate purposes.



NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THIRD QUARTER AND FIRST NINE MONTHS ENDED OCTOBER 1, 2011
AND THE THIRD QUARTER AND FIRST NINE MONTHS ENDED OCTOBER 2, 2010

45

Outstanding Indebtedness

We had consolidated debt at October 1, 2011 of approximately $1,182.9 million consisting of the following:

8.5% Notes, net of discount
Term Loan Facility, net of discount
10% Notes
ABL Facility
Long-term notes, mortgage notes and other indebtedness, net
Short-term bank obligations

 

(Amounts in millions)

$ 493.0
340.5
250.0
77.0
20.3
2.1

$ 1,182.9

During the first nine months of 2011, we had a net increase in our debt of approximately $63.3 million resulting primarily from 
the second quarter 2011 debt transactions as noted previously, which resulted in a net increase in outstanding borrowings of 
approximately $81.2 million, partially offset by a net decrease in borrowings under our ABL Facility of approximately $8.0 million, 
quarterly payments related to the Term Loan Facility of approximately $1.7 million and net payments relating to subsidiary debt 
of approximately $9.0 million.  The remaining increase of approximately $0.8 million relates to the effect of changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates and debt discount amortization.  Our debt to equity ratio increased from approximately 7.1:1 at 
December 31, 2010 to approximately 11.6:1 at October 1, 2011 primarily as a result of the net increase in indebtedness as noted 
above and a decrease in stockholders' investment, primarily related to the net loss for the first nine months of 2011.  On October 
28, 2011, we voluntarily repaid $25.0 million of outstanding borrowings under our ABL Facility and accordingly have classified 
such amount as current maturities of long-term debt in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet.

At October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, our subsidiary, Best, was not in compliance with certain maintenance covenants with 
respect to one of its loan agreements with borrowings outstanding of approximately $0.8 million and $1.4 million at October 1, 
2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.  As a result, we reclassified the long-term portion of outstanding borrowings under 
this agreement of approximately $0.6 million as a current liability on our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2010.  The 
lender has not taken any action related to the covenant noncompliance at this time.  The next measurement date for the maintenance 
covenant is for the year ended December 31, 2011 and we believe it is probable that Best will not be in compliance with such 
covenants at such time.  No assurances can be given that the lender will continue to not take any action and accordingly, we could 
be required to repay this outstanding borrowing if non-compliance is not cured or waived, as the case may be.  In the event this 
lender accelerates this loan, additional indebtedness of Best under a different loan agreement with borrowings outstanding of 
approximately $1.1 million and $1.7 million at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, could also become 
immediately due and payable if such cross-default is not waived.  As a result, we have also reclassified the long-term portion of 
this additional indebtedness of approximately $0.2 million and $0.9 million as a current liability on our consolidated balance sheet 
at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.
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Contractual Obligations

The summary of our estimated future cash obligations for notes, mortgage notes and obligations payable and interest payments 
presented below has been updated from the amounts presented in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 to reflect 
the following:

• The 2011 amounts have been adjusted for actual activity in the first nine months of 2011 in order to reflect the estimated 
remaining amounts due for the remainder of 2011.

• All payments related to the 11% Notes have been excluded to reflect the impact of the repurchase and redemption discussed 
above.

• The estimated impact of the 8.5% Notes due 2021 with a first interest payment of October 15, 2011 has been added.
• The estimated impact of the Term Loan Facility has been added and includes the remaining quarterly principal payments 

of $875,000 through maturity on April 26, 2017 at the initial interest rate of 5.25%.
• The impact of the net decrease in amounts borrowed under the ABL Facility of approximately $8.0 million in the first 

nine months of 2011 and the change in maturity of the ABL Facility from 2013 to 2015. 

 

 
 

Notes, mortgage notes and obligations payable
Interest payments

Payments Due by Period
Remainder

of 2011
(Amounts in millions)

$ 2.7
31.3

2012 & 2013

$ 9.0
185.0

2014 & 2015

$ 84.7
184.7

2016 &
Thereafter

$ 1,089.9
336.2

Total

$ 1,186.3
737.2

Nortek, its subsidiaries, affiliates or significant shareholders may from time to time, in their sole discretion, purchase, repay, 
refinance, redeem or retire any of our outstanding debt, in privately negotiated or open market transactions, by tender offer or 
otherwise, which may be subject to restricted payment limitations.

Adequacy of Liquidity Sources

At October 1, 2011, we had approximately $57.2 million of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents to fund our cash flow needs 
for the remainder of 2011, of which approximately $25.0 million was used to subsequently pay down outstanding borrowings on 
our ABL Facility on October 28, 2011.  

Our ABL Facility consists of a $280.0 million U.S. facility (with a $60.0 million sublimit for the issuance of U.S. standby letters 
of credit and a $20.0 million sublimit for U.S. swingline loans) and a $20.0 million Canadian facility.  As of November 11, 2011, 
we had approximately $52.0 million in outstanding borrowings and approximately $15.7 million in outstanding letters of credit 
under the ABL Facility and, based on the most recent borrowing base calculations as of October 20, 2011, we had excess availability 
of approximately $199.8 million under the ABL Facility and approximately $159.7 million of excess availability before triggering 
the cash deposit requirements as discussed further below.  

As noted previously, the indentures and other agreements governing our indebtedness and the indebtedness of our subsidiaries, 
contain certain restrictive financial and operating covenants, including covenants that restrict our ability and the ability of our 
subsidiaries to complete acquisitions, pay dividends, incur indebtedness, make investments, sell assets, and take certain other 
corporate actions.  As of October 1, 2011, we had the capacity to make certain payments, including dividends, under the 10% 
Notes of approximately $25.0 million.

From time to time, we have evaluated and expect to continue to evaluate possible acquisition transactions and possible dispositions 
of certain of our businesses and at any given time may be engaged in discussions or negotiations with respect to possible acquisitions 
or dispositions. 

On April 28, 2011, through wholly-owned subsidiaries, we acquired all of the stock of TV One Broadcast Sales Corporation, 
Barcom (UK) Holdings Limited and Barcom Asia Holdings, LLC (collectively, "TV One") for approximately $26.0 million.  In 
connection with the acquisition of TV One in the second quarter of 2011, we also incurred approximately $0.8 million of fees and 
expenses, which have been recorded in selling, general and administrative expense, net in the accompanying unaudited condensed 
consolidated statement of operations.  TV One sells a complete range of video signal processing products for the professional 
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audio/video and broadcast markets.  

Working Capital

Our working capital and current ratio decreased from approximately $330.5 million and 1.9:1 at December 31, 2010 to 
approximately $312.2 million and 1.7:1 at October 1, 2011.  The decrease in working capital is primarily the result of an increase 
in current maturities of long-term debt due to the voluntary repayment of $25.0 million in outstanding borrowings under the ABL 
Facility in October 2011 and the April 2011 debt refinancing and the effect of changes in accrued expenses and taxes, net as 
described further below, partially offset by the effect of changes in other working capital accounts as described further below.

Refer to “- Cash Flows”, “- Contractual Obligations” and “- Adequacy of Liquidity Sources” above for further discussions on 
the Company’s working capital and future uses of cash.

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents decreased from approximately $57.7 million at December 31, 2010 to approximately $57.2 
million at October 1, 2011.  We have classified as restricted, in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet, 
certain cash and cash equivalents that are not fully available for use in our operations.  At October 1, 2011, approximately $2.3 
million (of which approximately $2.2 million is included in long-term assets) of cash and cash equivalents were held primarily 
as collateral to fund certain benefit obligations relating to supplemental executive retirement plans.

Accounts receivable, less allowances, increased approximately $4.3 million, or approximately 1.5%, between December 31, 2010 
and October 1, 2011, while net sales increased approximately $89.0 million, or approximately 19.2%, in the third quarter of 2011 
as compared to the fourth quarter of 2010.  The change in accounts receivable includes a decrease of approximately $1.8 million 
related to the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and an increase of approximately $2.5 million related to 
acquisitions made in 2011.   Accounts receivable at December 31, 2010 included approximately $22.1 million of accounts receivable 
related to Ergotron.  As Ergotron was accounted for as if it had been acquired on December 31, 2010, no net sales were included 
in the fourth quarter of 2010.  Excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and acquisitions made in 2011 
from the October 1, 2011 accounts receivable balance and Ergotron receivables from the December 31, 2010 accounts receivable 
balance, accounts receivable increased approximately $25.7 million between December 31, 2010 and October 1, 2011 and primarily 
relates to increased sales in the C-HVAC segment.  The rate of change in accounts receivable in certain periods may be different 
than the rate of change in sales in such periods principally due to the timing of net sales, as well as collections from our 
customers.  Increases or decreases in net sales near the end of any period generally result in significant changes in the amount of 
accounts receivable on the date of the balance sheet at the end of such period.  Accounts receivable from customers related to 
foreign operations increased by approximately $6.0 million, or approximately 7.2%, between December 31, 2010 and October 1, 
2011.  

Inventories increased approximately $15.5 million, or approximately 4.9%, between December 31, 2010 and October 1, 2011.  
The change in inventories includes a reduction of approximately $7.5 million related to non-cash amortization of the fair value 
of inventories, a decrease of approximately $1.0 million related to the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
an increase of approximately $2.9 million related to acquisitions made in 2011.   Excluding the effect of non-cash amortization, 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates and acquisitions, inventories increased approximately $21.1 million between 
December 31, 2010 and October 1, 2011 and primarily relates to increased purchases in the C-HVAC segment in anticipation of 
higher sales levels in the fourth quarter of 2011.

Other current assets increased approximately $16.7 million, or approximately 121.0%, between December 31, 2010 and October 1, 
2011.  This increase is primarily related to an increase in the cost basis of inventory shipped of approximately $16.5 million relating 
to a customer in the TECH segment in which we have determined that cash basis accounting treatment is appropriate for revenue 
recognition under the customer agreement.   See "Risks and Uncertainties".

Accounts payable decreased approximately $5.1 million, or 2.9%, between December 31, 2010 and October 1, 2011 primarily 
due to decreases in the RVP and TECH segments related to decreased purchases, partially offset by increases in the C-HVAC 
segment related to increased purchasing in anticipation of higher sales levels in the fourth quarter of 2011.  The change in accounts 
payable at October 1, 2011 also reflects a decrease of approximately $0.5 million related to the effect of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates and an increase of approximately $1.7 million related to acquisitions made in 2011.

Accrued expenses and taxes, net increased approximately $37.1 million, or approximately 19.2%, between December 31, 2010 
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and October 1, 2011 primarily as a result of an increase in accrued interest related to upcoming interest payments on the Company's 
senior indebtedness, as well as, an increase in accrued severance related to the retirement of a Company executive.  

Changes in certain working capital accounts, as noted above, between December 31, 2010 and October 1, 2011, differ from the 
changes reflected in our unaudited condensed consolidated statement of cash flows for such period as a result of non-cash items, 
including among others, the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

Debt Covenant Compliance

The agreements that govern the terms of our outstanding debt, including the indentures that govern the 8.5% Notes and the 10% 
Notes, and the credit agreements that govern the ABL Facility and Term Loan Facility, contain covenants that restrict our ability 
and the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to, among other things:
 

• consolidate, merge or sell assets;
• pay dividends or make other restricted payments;
• incur additional indebtedness;
• make loans or investments;
• incur certain liens;
• enter into transactions with affiliates; and
• agree to dividend payment restrictions affecting certain of our subsidiaries.

 
Additionally, pursuant to the terms of the ABL Facility, we will be required to deposit cash from our material deposit accounts 
(including all concentration accounts) daily in collection accounts maintained with the administrative agent under the ABL Facility, 
which will be used to repay outstanding loans and cash collateralized letters of credit, if (i) excess availability (as defined in the 
ABL Facility) falls below the greater of $35.0 million or 15% of the borrowing base or (ii) an event of default has occurred and 
is continuing. In addition, under the ABL Facility, if (i) excess availability falls below the greater of $30.0 million or 12.5% of 
the borrowing base or (ii) an event of default has occurred and is continuing, we will be required to satisfy and maintain a 
consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio measured on a trailing four quarter basis of not less than 1.1 to 1.0. The ABL Facility 
also restricts our ability to prepay our other indebtedness, including the 10% Notes, the 8.5% Notes and the Term Loan Facility, 
or designate any other indebtedness as senior debt.
 
In addition, the indentures that govern our 8.5% Notes and 10% Notes and the credit agreement that governs the Term Loan Facility 
contain certain covenants that limit our ability to designate any of our subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries or permit any 
restricted subsidiaries that are not guarantors under the indenture from guaranteeing our debt or the debt of any of our other 
restricted subsidiaries. The indentures governing our 8.5% Notes and 10% Notes and the credit agreement that governs the Term 
Loan Facility also restrict our ability to incur certain additional indebtedness (but does not restrict our ability to incur indebtedness 
under the ABL Facility or certain other forms of permitted debt) if the fixed charge coverage ratio (“FCCR”) measured on a trailing 
four quarter basis falls below 2.0 to 1.0. The FCCR is the ratio of the Adjusted Consolidated Cash Flow, (“ACCF”, as described 
in greater detail below) to Fixed Charges (as defined by the 8.5% Notes, 10% Notes and Term Loan Facility) for such trailing four 
quarter period. As of October 1, 2011, under the 8.5% Notes, the FCCR was approximately 2.03 to 1.0.
 
A breach of the covenants under the indentures that govern our 8.5% Notes and 10% Notes or the credit agreements that govern 
the ABL Facility and Term Loan Facility could result in an event of default under the applicable indebtedness. Such a default may 
allow the creditors to accelerate the related debt and may result in the acceleration of any other debt to which a cross-acceleration 
or cross-default provision applies. In addition, an event of default under the ABL Facility would permit the lenders under the ABL 
Facility to terminate all commitments to extend further credit under that facility. Furthermore, if we were unable to repay the 
amounts due and payable under our ABL Facility, those lenders could proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure that 
indebtedness. In the event our lenders or noteholders accelerate the repayment of our borrowings, we cannot provide assurance 
that we and our subsidiaries would have sufficient assets to repay such indebtedness.
 
As of October 1, 2011, we were in compliance with all covenants under the indentures that govern the 8.5% Notes and the credit 
agreements that govern the ABL Facility and Term Loan Facility.  
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On October 21, 2011, the Company notified the Trustee for the 10% Notes of the existence of a default, as defined in the related 
indenture, resulting from the Company's failure to timely provide a current report on Form 8-K including certain financial statements 
required by Item 9.01 of Form 8-K related to the Company's acquisition of Ergotron.  The Company has subsequently filed an 
amendment to the Form 8-K relating to the Ergotron acquisition, which includes such financial statements, on November 10, 2011.  
Accordingly, there was no Event of Default, as defined in the indenture, and the Company is in compliance with the terms, covenants 
and conditions set forth in the indenture relating to the 10% Notes.  

Consolidated Cash Flow and Adjusted Consolidated Cash Flow

Consolidated Cash Flow (“CCF”) represents net earnings (loss) before interest, income taxes, depreciation, amortization, loss 
from debt retirement and the effects of the Reorganization, including the effects of fresh-start accounting. The ACCF is defined 
as the CCF further adjusted to exclude certain cash and non-cash, non-recurring items. CCF and ACCF are not defined terms under 
GAAP. Neither CCF nor ACCF should be considered an alternative to operating income or net earnings (loss) as a measure of 
operating results. There are material limitations associated with making the adjustments to our earnings to calculate CCF and 
ACCF and using these non-GAAP financial measures as compared to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures. 
For instance, CCF and ACCF do not include:
 

• interest expense, and, because we have borrowed money in order to finance our operations, interest expense is a necessary 
element of our costs and ability to generate revenue;

• depreciation and amortization expense, and, because we use capital assets, depreciation and amortization expense is a 
necessary element of our costs and ability to generate revenue;

• income tax expense, and because the payment of taxes is part of our operations, tax expense is a necessary element of 
our costs and ability to operate; or

• certain cash and non-cash, non-recurring items, and, because such non-recurring items can, at times, affect our operating 
results, the exclusion of such items is a material limitation.

 
We present CCF because we consider it an important supplemental measure of our performance and believe it is frequently used 
by our investors and other interested parties, as well as by our management, in the evaluation of companies in our industry, many 
of which present CCF when reporting their results. In addition, CCF provides additional information used by our management 
and Board of Directors to facilitate internal comparisons to historical operating performance of prior periods. Further, management 
believes that CCF facilitates operating performance comparisons from period to period because it excludes potential differences 
caused by variations in capital structure (affecting interest expense), tax positions (such as the impact of changes in effective tax 
rates or net operating losses) and the age and book depreciation of facilities and equipment (affecting depreciation expense).
 
We believe that the inclusion of supplementary adjustments to CCF applied in presenting ACCF are appropriate to provide additional 
information to investors about the performance of the business, and we are required to reconcile net earnings (loss) to ACCF to 
demonstrate compliance with debt covenants. While the determination of appropriate adjustments in the calculation of ACCF is 
subject to interpretation under the terms of the 8.5% Notes, management believes the adjustments described below are in accordance 
with the covenants in the 8.5% Notes.
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The following table reconciles net earnings (loss) to CCF and ACCF for the trailing four quarters ended October 1, 2011 and 
October 2, 2010:

 

 
 

 

Net (loss) earnings
(Benefit) provision for income taxes
Gain on reorganization items, net
Loss from debt retirement

Interest expense

Investment income
Depreciation and amortization expense

Consolidated Cash Flow

Pre-petition reorganization items (a)

Investment income
Non-recurring cash charges (b)
Gross run-rate cost savings and synergies (c)
Run-rate adjustment (d)

Other non-recurring items (e)

Non-cash impairment charges (f)
Share-based compensation expense
Net foreign exchange (gains) losses (g)

Restructuring (h)

Pro-forma effect of acquisitions (i)

Adjusted Consolidated Cash Flow

(1)

Year Ended
Dec. 31 2010

(Dollar amounts in millions)

$ (13.4)
(11.6)

—
—

95.7

(0.1)
91.7

$ 162.3

—

0.1
2.4
4.2

(4.2)

(3.0)

—
2.8

(0.3)

5.2

39.6

$ 209.1

(2)

For the first nine months of
2011

$ (55.1)
(22.9)

—
33.8

81.0

(0.1)
71.8

$ 108.5

—

0.1
0.6

17.8
(0.5)

8.7

—
0.4
1.1

6.0

0.9

$ 143.6

(3)

2010

$ (3.3)
(8.5)

—
—

69.9

(0.1)
72.7

$ 130.7

—

0.1
—
—
—

(3.0)

—
1.9

(0.4)

2.0

30.6

$ 161.9

Trailing Four Quarters Ended

(1)+(2)-(3)
Oct. 1, 2011

$ (65.2)
(26.0)

—
33.8

106.8

(0.1)
90.8

$ 140.1

—

0.1
3.0

22.0
(4.7)

8.7

—
1.3
1.2

9.2

9.9

$ 190.8

Oct. 2, 2010

$ 479.1
71.5

(619.1)
—

95.4

(0.1)
90.8

$ 117.6

15.1

0.1
0.4
—
—

2.9

35.2
1.9

(0.8)

3.0

1.1

$ 176.5

(a) Relates to pre-petition advisory and other fees related to the reorganization of our capital structure.
(b) Relates to miscellaneous non-recurring cash items which are limited by the covenants as defined in the indenture governing the 8.5% Notes.
(c) Relates to the gross amount of run-rate cost savings and synergies as defined in the indenture governing the 8.5% Notes.
(d) Per the indenture governing the 8.5% Notes, the amount of run-rate synergies taken within any trailing four quarter period shall not exceed 

10% of adjusted consolidated cash flow, as defined, prior to giving effect to such run-rate synergies.  
(e) For the trailing four quarters ended October 1, 2011 includes severance expense of approximately $8.7 million related to the retirement of 

a Company executive.
For the trailing four quarters ended October 2, 2010 includes (1) a reserve of approximately $1.6 million related to certain assets of our 
foreign subsidiaries and (2) approximately $1.3 million of expense related to an early lease termination charge.

(f) Includes non-cash goodwill impairment charges as well as non-cash write-downs of certain of our foreign subsidiaries.
(g) Non-cash foreign exchange gains related to intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in our subsidiaries.
(h) Includes severance charges associated with reduction in workforce initiatives and charges related to the closure of certain of our facilities.
(i) Includes the pro-forma effect of our acquisitions of Ergotron, Luxor and TV One as if each acquisition had occurred on the first day of the 

four-quarter reference period.
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As noted previously, under the ABL Facility, if (i) excess availability falls below the greater of $30.0 million or 12.5% of the 
borrowing base, or (ii) an event of default has occurred and is continuing, we will be required to satisfy and maintain a consolidated 
fixed charge coverage ratio measured on a trailing four quarter basis of not less than 1.1 to 1.0. At October 1, 2011, excess 
availability for purposes of compliance with a covenant trigger event under the ABL Facility was approximately $170.6 million 
(based upon the August 2011 borrowing base calculation), which exceeded $30.0 million and 12.5% of the borrowing base. Our 
FCCR under the ABL Facility at October 1, 2011 was 1.33 to 1.0. Similar to the 8.5% Notes, the FCCR under the ABL Facility 
is the ratio of the ACCF to Fixed Charges; however, in addition to other differences, the ACCF under the ABL Facility is further 
reduced by the aggregate amount of all capital expenditures for the trailing four quarters and income taxes paid or payable in cash 
for the trailing four quarters, and Fixed Charges under the ABL Facility are further increased by mandatory principal payments 
during the period. As a result, ACCF under the ABL Facility at October 1, 2011 was approximately $143.1 million. 

Risks and Uncertainties

In the fourth quarter of 2009, two of the Company's subsidiaries in the TECH segment began shipping security products to a new 
customer under an agreement to manufacture and sell these security products.  Under this agreement, the Company recognized 
net sales of approximately $35.7 million and $62.5 million during the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, respectively.  
The Company recognized net sales of approximately $34.2 million and $45.8 million relating to this customer during the third 
quarter and first nine months of 2010, respectively. The agreement includes payment terms which are extended beyond the 
subsidiaries' normal payment terms.  The Company has determined that cash basis accounting treatment is appropriate for revenue 
recognition under this agreement. Accordingly, the Company has deferred revenue recognition on approximately $36.5 million 
and $9.2 million of net sales at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, and recorded the cost basis of related 
inventory shipped of approximately $23.0 million and $6.5 million at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, in 
other current assets in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet.  In addition, included in inventory is 
approximately $6.7 million and $6.1 million at October 1, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, of inventory related to this 
customer. As only limited cash collection history was available in periods prior to December 31, 2009, the Company recorded 
loss contingency reserves of approximately $2.0 million as a reduction to other current assets during the first nine months of 2010. 
 
The customer has made approximately $26.3 million of payments to date in the fourth quarter of 2011, including approximately 
$13.3 million of delinquent payments that were scheduled to be received in the third quarter of 2011. In the fourth quarter, the 
customer notified the Company of a product recall issue related to certain products that the Company provided to the customer 
who in turn sold such products to third parties. The Company is in the process of negotiating a resolution of this and other contractual 
terms in the customer agreement. These negotiations have not been completed and, accordingly, the Company has recorded a 
warranty reserve of approximately $6.0 million, representing the Company's best estimate of the amount that may be ultimately 
due for the product recall as of October 1, 2011. The Company made an approximate $2.9 million progress payment to the customer 
for the product recall in the fourth quarter of 2011.  The customer has continued to make payments and is current on its account. 
As such, the Company currently believes that it will collect all remaining amounts recorded in the consolidated balance sheet as 
of October 1, 2011, net of the remaining warranty reserve, in accordance with the terms of the current agreement with the customer.  

As the Company records revenue on the cash basis of accounting for this customer, the failure of the Company to receive scheduled 
payments resulted in a corresponding reduction to revenue and cost of goods sold in the Company's third quarter 2011 operating 
results than was otherwise expected. If the customer remains current with its payments, then sales and cost of goods sold will be 
higher than was otherwise expected in the fourth quarter of 2011. 

There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to complete its negotiations with the customer or that the customer will 
continue to pay according to terms in the fourth quarter of 2011 if the negotiations are not completed. As such, it is possible that 
the Company may have reduced sales and cost of sales and may be required to record additional reserves in the fourth quarter of 
2011 related to this customer relationship. The Company will continue to closely monitor the situation in the fourth quarter of 
2011.  

In February 2011, management approved an initial plan to reduce costs and improve production efficiencies at the Company's 
subsidiary, Best, and during the third quarter of 2011, our Board of Directors approved additional plans that are expected to further 
improve the overall operational efficiencies of Best.  During the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, the Company recorded 
expenses within SG&A of the RVP segment of approximately $0.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively, related to severance 
and other costs.  The Company also recorded additional severance costs of approximately $0.4 million and $1.7 million within 
cost of products sold ("COGS") during the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, respectively.  In the fourth quarter of 2011, 
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the Company transferred certain operations from Italy to Poland in accordance with the plan and has commenced union negotiations 
with respect to the employees to be terminated. The Company anticipates recording additional expenses of between approximately 
$10 million and $12 million related to this restructuring plan consisting of severance and other expenses in the fourth quarter of 
2011 and through 2012. 

Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates primarily through our investing and borrowing activities.  In addition, 
our ability to finance future acquisition transactions may be impacted if we are unable to obtain appropriate financing at acceptable 
interest rates.

Our investing strategy to manage interest rate exposure is to invest in short-term, highly liquid investments and marketable 
securities.  Short-term investments primarily consist of federal agency discount notes, treasury bills and bank issued money market 
instruments with original maturities of 90 days or less.  At October 1, 2011, the fair value of our unrestricted and restricted 
investments and marketable securities was not materially different from their cost basis.

We manage our borrowing exposure to changes in interest rates by optimizing the use of fixed rate debt with extended maturities.  At 
October 1, 2011, approximately 63.7% of the carrying value of our long-term debt was at fixed interest rates.  The remaining 
portion of our long-term debt is at variable interest rates.  Based upon interest rates in effect at October 1, 2011, an overall 
unfavorable change in interest rates of 100 basis points would result in an additional charge to interest expense of approximately 
$1.1 million for the remainder of 2011.  

Foreign Currency Risk

Our results of operations are affected by fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar as compared to the value of currencies in 
foreign markets primarily related to changes in the Euro, the Canadian Dollar and the British Pound.  In the third quarter and first 
nine months of 2011, the net impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates was not material to our financial condition or 
results of operations.  The impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates related to translation resulted in a decrease in 
stockholders’ investment of approximately $3.7 million and $0.9 million for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, 
respectively, and for the third quarter and first nine months of 2010, resulted in an increase to stockholders' investment of 
approximately $3.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively.  The impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates related to 
transactions resulted in an increase in net foreign exchange losses recorded in SG&A of approximately $6.5 million and $4.6 
million for the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, respectively, as compared to the same periods of 2010.  We manage 
our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk principally by trying to minimize our net investment in foreign assets, including 
the use of strategic short and long-term borrowings at the foreign subsidiary level.  Consistent with this strategy, notes payable 
and other short-term obligations at October 1, 2011 consist primarily of short-term borrowings by certain of our foreign 
subsidiaries.  We generally do not enter into derivative financial instruments to manage foreign currency exposure.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This document contains forward-looking statements.  When used in this discussion and throughout this document, words, such as 
“intends”, “plans”, “estimates”, “believes”, “anticipates” and “expects” or similar expressions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements. These statements are based on the Company’s current plans and expectations and involve risks and uncertainties, 
over which the Company has no control, that could cause actual future activities and results of operations to be materially different 
from those set forth in the forward-looking statements.  Important factors that could cause actual future activities and operating 
results to differ include availability and cost of certain raw materials (including, among others, steel, copper, packaging materials, 
plastics, resins, glass, wood and aluminum) and purchased components, freight costs, the level of domestic and foreign construction 
and remodeling activity affecting residential and commercial markets, interest rates, employment levels, inflation, foreign currency 
fluctuations, consumer spending levels, exposure to foreign economies, the rate of sales growth, prices, and product and warranty 
liability claims.  Other factors are discussed under “- Industry Overview” and “- Overview”.  Readers are cautioned not to place 
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof.  The Company undertakes no obligation 
to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.  All 
subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or persons acting on its behalf are expressly 
qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements.  Readers are also urged to carefully review and consider the various 
disclosures made by the Company in this document, as well as the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2010 
and periodic reports filed with the SEC.

Item 3.               Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Quantitative and qualitative disclosure about market risk is set forth in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations – Market Risk”.

Item 4.              Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the 
participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer along with the Company’s Senior 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and the Company’s Corporate Disclosure and Controls Committee, of the effectiveness 
of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a–15e and 15d-15e under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended.  Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer along with the Company’s Senior Vice 
President and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures 
are effective to ensure that information relating to the Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) required to be disclosed 
in the Company’s periodic SEC filings is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the 
SEC’s rules and forms.  There have been no significant changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the period covered by this report that have materially affected, or that are reasonably likely to materially affect, 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully review and consider the information regarding certain factors which could materially affect our business, 
financial condition or future results set forth under Item 1A “Risk Factors” in our annual report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC.  
Other than as set forth below, there have been no material changes from the risk factors disclosed in such annual report on Form 
10-K.

We continue to evaluate potential restructurings, business shutdowns and integrations focused on improving future cash flows 
of the business.  

We continue to evaluate potential restructurings, business shutdowns and integrations focused on improving future cash flows of 
the business. These restructurings, business shutdowns and integrations involve numerous risks in their implementations including 
increased costs, business disruption, management distraction and potential asset impairment among others and may be unsuccessful. 
In addition, restructurings of international operations may be more costly due to differing labor laws, business practices and 
governmental restrictions, processes and requirements.  

During 2010, we announced the formation of our new audio/visual control company within the TECH segment called The AVC 
Group, LLC ("The AVC Group").  Upon the formation of The AVC Group, the operations of Niles Audio Corporation, Elan Home 
Systems, L.L.C. and Xantech LLC were combined to improve the overall operational efficiencies of these companies.  In conjunction 
with the formation of The AVC Group, we are in the process of consolidating and shutting down certain of our facilities and, as 
a result, recorded net expenses within selling, general and administrative expense, net ("SG&A") of approximately $0.4 million 
for the first nine months of 2011 consisting of severance and other expenses.   During 2010, we recorded approximately $2.8 
million (of which approximately $2.6 million was recorded within SG&A) of severance and other expenses related to this activity, 
of which approximately $0.4 million was recorded in SG&A in the third quarter of 2010.  We do not anticipate recording any 
additional expenses related to severance or other costs associated with this activity.

In February 2011, management approved an initial plan to reduce costs and improve production efficiencies at the Company's 
subsidiary, Best, and during the third quarter of 2011, our Board of Directors approved additional plans that are expected to further 
improve the overall operational efficiencies of Best.  During the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, we recorded expenses 
within SG&A of the RVP segment of approximately $0.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively, related to severance and other 
costs.  We also recorded additional severance costs of approximately $0.4 million and $1.7 million within cost of products sold 
during the third quarter and first nine months of 2011, respectively.  In the fourth quarter of 2011, we transferred certain operations 
from Italy to Poland in accordance with the plan and have commenced union negotiations with respect to the employees to be 
terminated. We anticipate recording additional expenses of between approximately $10 million and $12 million related to this 
restructuring plan consisting of severance and other expenses in the fourth quarter of 2011 and through 2012.   

Item  2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

During the third quarter ended October 1, 2011, in connection with the 2009 Omnibus Incentive Plan, the Company granted 
15,616 shares of restricted common stock to certain Company employees.  Such shares of restricted common stock vest at the 
rate of 33% on each anniversary of the grant date, beginning with the first anniversary, with 100% vesting upon the third 
anniversary of the grant date provided the recipient continues to be employed by the Company.  The issuance of such restricted 
common stock is exempt from Section 5 of the Securities Act pursuant to Rule 701 of the Securities Act.

The Company and its subsidiaries, affiliates or significant shareholders may from time to time, in their sole discretion, purchase, 
repay, redeem or retire any of the Company’s outstanding securities (including publicly issued debt or equity), in privately negotiated 
or open market transactions, by tender offer or otherwise.
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Item 6. Exhibits

The items marked with an asterisk are filed herewith.

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

31.1

31.2

32

101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

Certificate of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certificate of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certificate of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 
of Title 18, United States Code, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document  
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SIGNATURE
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 NORTEK, INC.
 
 
 
 
/s/ Almon C. Hall
 Almon C. Hall
 Authorized Officer, Senior Vice President,
 Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer

 
 
 

November 15, 2011 
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